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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and—before we do, let’s go and open the roll on the consent calendar.

THE SECRETARY:  Absent members on consent.  Denham?


SENATOR JEFF:  Aye.


THE SECRETARY:  Denham, aye.


Battin?  Maldonado?  Wiggins?


SENATOR PAT WIGGINS:  Aye.


THE SECRETARY:  Wiggins, aye.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Does she need to vote on other bills?  Okay.  Great.

Okay.  Let’s go ahead and begin the informational hearing.  Okay.  We’re going to add onto the other two.

Please call the roll on the bills.


THE SECRETARY:  Item Number 2, SB 440, absent members.


Denham?


SENATOR DENHAM:  Aye.


THE SECRETARY:  Denham, aye.


Battin?  Maldonado?  7:0.


And Item Number 5, SB 863, absent members.


Denham?


SENATOR DENHAM:  Aye.


THE SECRETARY:  Denham, aye.


Battin?  Maldonado?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s it.  Members, come in.  We’re not going to lift the call any more until 1:30.  So let’s begin.


Good morning.  Thank you.  I want to thank Lt. Governor Garamendi for being here particularly.  As you know, the recent tragedy at Virginia Tech which claimed 33 lives heightened the urgency efforts to enhance school safety and obviously prompted this committee to have an information hearing on how to best understand the communication devices that can be used as tools to keep students, faculty, and staff better informed and better protected from harm.  As you do know, many of our institutions are now turning to automated alert systems.  Those would be known as text messaging, email to residents, et cetera.

Today’s hearing is really about exploring those existing and new, technological capacities in the event that there are events in terms to campus emergencies.  Most of you know that our campuses have been traditionally open and accessible and at the same time in many cases—the Virginia Tech case tells us—we need to in essence update our technology with those times to make sure that we are in essence providing solutions to faculty, staff, and our students.  Today is really about exploring those, both the federal, state, and local governments, to somehow integrate those Emergency Alert Systems in a much better way.
What we’d like to do today, if we could, is to get an idea of what the current state of our campus public safety is to discuss overlapping systems, to talk about bulk email or text messaging to all students in the time of crisis or emergency, and the practicality of reverse 911 systems.  Also, we’d like to get some enlightenment in terms of web-based emergency notification programs.  There’s no doubt that this is still an issue, not just because of Virginia Tech.  I was telling the Lt. Governor—we were both discussing before the hearing—in my district today at Fresno State, there was a shooting 24 hours ago, and it shows we still have a long way to go in terms of trying to reach students and give them the notification necessary in these types of events.

So with that, let’s begin.  I’d like to have our Lt. Governor please come up to kick off this hearing.  Obviously our Lt. Governor has been on the forefront of this issue.  He announced his plans early on for the creation of a system that I think has great merit.
Lt. Governor, thank you very much for being here.

LT. GOVERNOR JOHN GARAMENDI:  Senator, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Senators.  It’s always a privilege to sit before this committee in this chamber.

Very quickly, there are basically two different kinds of systems that could be in operation.  One you mentioned in your introduction, Senator, and that is, the system that notifies all people that are on a certain database.  There are different mechanisms that can be used to do that—email systems, text messages, voicemail, reverse 911.  All of these who are dependent upon having the telephone number or the access number to the device, whether it’s a landline or a cell phone or a Blackberry.  Those are very good.  They’re being used by universities, by other institutions, and they have a good purpose and will work to a good degree.  But we are envisioning in a meeting that we held about two weeks ago with the Office of Emergency Services, the Public Utility Commission, and the Governor’s Office, and representatives from the four major cell phone companies is a system that is more akin to the broadcast emergency warning system that I think all of us are familiar with.  You may be listening to your favorite radio station or television show and then this ugly noise comes on, which I won’t try to replicate here, but I think we’re all familiar with it.  And so you pay attention to what’s going on.  Sometimes there’s a text message beneath the television on the bottom of the television screen or the radio program is interrupted with some sort of a message.  That same kind of emergency warning system could be and should be used for the cell phone systems that are now in place.

For example, Fresno.  The recent tragic shooting that’s taking place—and I think an ongoing hostage situation, or at least an ongoing situation—is there.  Text messages, and I think emails, were sent out to the students.  But all of the, in the system we’re envisioning, the cell phone towers in and around this campus would broadcast an emergency notification to all the cell phone devices—PDAs, Blackberries, and pagers—in the area with a specific message, alerting people as to what is going on and what to do.  It could be used for tsunamis, for firestorms, for any other kind of emergency, say, a release of toxic gases in an area.

Where we left the meeting two weeks ago was a very strong commitment to move forward with it.  Rachelle Chong from the PUC is going to be holding informational hearings in the early summer about the technology, working specifically with the cell phone companies on how the technology could be put in place and used.  Henry Renteria from the Office of Emergency Services and the Governor’s Office are working through the protocols—what would initiate such a message; what are the safeguards that would be used so that the message would be appropriate, and also the security, the personal security information necessary.  That’s being worked on.  We think that—and all of this needs to be done in conjunction with the federal government.  There was a federal law passed last year that instructs the federal communication systems to get on with it.  My experience with the federal government is, they will eventually get on with it.  But we think we can get this in place in California much sooner and literally lead the nation on how it can be done.

I’m very optimistic that such a system could be put in place.  I want to commend the cell phone industry for their willingness to move forward with this and quite possibly set the pace for the rest of the nation.  That’s where we are.  I notice that Henry Renteria is here from the Office of Emergency Services.  Perhaps he can add to it.  The Emergency Council, which was augmented by a piece of legislation last year, is involved in this whole thing, as are the governors, as is the Governor’s Office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Lt. Governor, let me ask a couple of questions.  Number 1, just from your vantage point, and you’ve been around here a long time, is this something, from your viewpoint, is going to fall to the wayside?  I mean, is this high on the governor’s agenda?  I’ll ask Mr. Renteria this question.  But from your perspective, I mean, how do we make this, if you will, part and parcel of our safety system in the State of California?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  I think there are a couple of steps.  First, we need to be sure that the technology is there.  There’s a high confidence that it is possible to do this, and that’s where the PUC will come in, and they have considerable sway with the cell phone industry.  And so I don’t think there’ll be—and the cell phone industry seems to be very accommodating for this system.  That’s one thing.  The protocols are—there’s nothing new here.  We have the AMBER Alert protocols, so we know how to do protocols, and certainly the Office of Emergency Services is very familiar with that, so that piece is there.  The need is there, and it’s not just campus issues.  There could be any number of issues that would call for such an alert.

The final thing is that we all need to work on it, and certainly the legislature needs to apply, to maintain its keen interest and pressure, if that’s necessary, on all of us.  The Emergency Council is engaged in there.  There’s no doubt that the Governor’s Office is clearly engaged.  Dan Dunmoyer attended the hearing and is very supportive and interested in it.  So I think we’re working on all cylinders right now, and I don’t think this is going to back off because the need’s going to be there.  There’ll be another incident, unfortunately, in the future, probably, who knows when?  We did not anticipate Fresno.  There it is, an alert for all of us.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The other question I have, in terms of the private sector’s participation, how would you gauge that in terms of their willingness to move quickly on this?  And obviously, you’ve had your hearing and you’ve mentioned that they’re going to work quickly.  But how do we gauge that here from a legislative perspective?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  I would recommend you monitor very carefully what Rachelle Chong is doing at the PUC.  She took the responsibility for the technology, in other words, working with the cell phone companies, to get the technology in place.  The PUC is not to be trifled with in this matter.  They have a lot of opportunity to encourage the cell phone industry to get on with it, and I frankly don’t think that’s necessary because the cell phone industry was very accommodating. They understand, and it’s in their interest too.  And they were very positive and I don’t want in any way to indicate that they were withholding or unwilling to move forward.  They were very, very accommodating, and I suspect that they will continue to be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Members, any questions?

Lt. Governor…

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

SENATOR DENHAM: A couple of quick questions…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

SENATOR DENHAM:  …to follow up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Denham.

SENATOR DENHAM:  The question I have for several on the different panels today, from your perspective of the cell phone industry, what type of system would they put into place?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Well, right now, I suspect more than one of us have our cell phone on or our pager or our Blackberry on.  The cell phone company knows exactly where you are.  So when you’re here in the Capitol, they know that your cell phone is here and operating.  If you’re on the beach, they know that cell phone is there.  They are able to contact all the cell phones that are pinging a specific tower, and that technology is already available.

I think what we need to have is a system in which they would be notified, and then the message would go out to all the cell phones that are pinging a specific tower or a set of towers in a given area.  It is not complicated, and we have reason to believe that the technology is already there to do this.  Again, that’s what the PUC will be taking up probably in the next two to three months in a public meeting, so I would expect it to move along fairly quickly.  If there’s some glitch along the way, then we’ll know very shortly from the cell phone industry if there’s a technology glitch.  But the initial indication is that it’s basically a matter of setting up the system.  This technology appears to be available.

SENATOR DENHAM:  So it could be phone message, a text message, any type of message to…

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Yes.  We were looking at different things.  You’ve got language issues; you may have hearing issues.  And so text messaging would certainly be appropriate, and you may just have symbols, certain emergency symbols, some of which are already in place around the world.  So there are many different mechanism that will be used, and I know that Mr. Renteria is going to be here in a few moments sitting in this chair, and he’s working on those protocols and probably give you some more specific information on that piece of it.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And it wouldn’t be an issue of different areas codes because it is going to specific cell towers.  So if it were a Sacramento-type disaster and somebody is driving into Sacramento, as soon as they pass that tower, they’re going to get an instant message regardless of if they have an LA area code on their phone, that they’re going to get a message?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Exactly, Senator.  That is the advantage of this kind of a system over the other systems which rely upon a specific telephone number or access number being available.  You may simply not be anywhere near the area in which there’s an emergency, or you might be in an area which is an emergency and yet you’re not going to receive that message because you are away from your base, and that’s the specific advantage of this.  It’s not to say that the other systems are not appropriate and very useful in alerting, and I highly recommend that campuses and institutions, including this one, use those other systems because they are, taken together with the kind of system I described here, would provide, I think, very comprehensive coverage in an emergency.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And a separate system that seems to continue to be a key issue here in California, as well as nationally, is, under Homeland Security, we do not have funding set up to put ambulance, fire, police, sheriffs all in the same frequency; as well here in California, we don’t have that technology either so that—we have the technology available. We have yet to implement putting everybody on the same page for an emergency.  Your comments?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Yes.  That is a problem.  It’s an ongoing problem.  It’s been known for at least 20 years.  I can give you old war stories, but I won’t begale ?? you with those at this moment.  But it’s been going on forever.  It’s something that should be done.  How many more tragedies will we lose public safety officers and first responders because they’re not able to communicate with each other?  Eventually, money will be found and the system will be purchased.  They do exist.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And in your opinion, is it an issue of money or is it an issue of politics?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Is there a difference?  (Laughter) 15:04
SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, between different agencies or between different political interests that may be selling those devices to different agencies.

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Well, your chairman said I’d been around a long time, and I can go back into a lot of history here.  And often these systems are even authorized and money is appropriated and bids are taken and a winner is chosen, and then the losers sue and things get tied up forever and a day, like most every computer system this state has attempted to purchase in the last three decades. That’s always, always a possibility.  So on the administrative side, care needs to be taken so that when authorized, when the money is appropriated, when the bids go out, that the RFP is designed in such a way as to try to avoid what has been the inevitable, loser lawsuit.  But I think right now it’s the earlier question, that is, the money available, making the money available, and that political will.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And from your legislative experience from the past, is this something that appears to be a statewide issue that we would look for a statewide bid as opposed to each of the different agencies across the state trying to bid out, basically gaining, using our buying power, as we’ve done with DGS and vehicles and other things, why wouldn’t we do the same thing for our emergency systems?
LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  I think you just answered the question:  Why wouldn’t we do it?  We should.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Thank you.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Further questions from members?

LT. GOVERNOR GARAMENDI:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And if we can have our next panel of witnesses come forward.  Director of OES, Henry, Renteria; Community Warning System Manager from Contra Costa County, Art Botterell; and Gary Winuk from Homeland Security.  Thank you for joining us.

MR. HENRY RENTERIA:  Good morning and thank you for having me.  My name is Henry Renteria.  I’m the director of the Governor’s Office of Emergency Services.  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to be here to address you today over this, yet another issue, that deals with the protection of life and property and the issue of communicating before, during, and after any type of emergency.
As you know, the Office of Emergency Services is responsible for the coordination, planning, response, recovery from any human caused or natural disaster.  It is our experience in state government that our role has been constantly tested in the arena of coordinating resources to respond to the needs of the locals.  All disasters are local.  There’s something I keep saying over and over again, and the local governments are the ones that prepare for and respond to these events.  Yet in many events, they cannot handle a lot of the issues that are dealt with in a major disaster; and therefore the state, through its standardized emergency management system, is prepared to coordinate resources as they are needed at the local level.  I’d like to give you just a brief overview of where we are on the emergency alerting system and where the Office of Emergency Services is.  I do have two members of my staff here, Charlie Simpson, who’s the chief of our law enforcement branch, and Eric Lamoureux who is our chief of our public information branch who will address some of the issues relative to dealing with local law enforcement and preparing for these types of events, and also alerting the warning systems that we currently have in place.

Let me just start by saying, first of all, that one of the main things that is helping us in this process—and I also want to thank Senator Florez for being so active in this process, even back from when the tsunami issue first started, and he’s kept this issue in front of all of us—this is another one of those, what we call high-risk, low-frequency events.  Obviously, the reason it’s becoming more of a high-risk, high-frequency event, and one of the things that has helped us in this process is our public/private partnership.  Last April, the Governor issued an executive order addressing the whole issue of how to involve the private sector in emergency planning, preparedness, response, and recovery, and he designated the Office of Emergency Services to be the lead in reaching out to the private sectors.  This includes businesses and nonprofits on what resources they can bring to the table, what planning, what technology, how it can be partners in this process.  So we’ve been working with the local businesses to identify what areas that they can be part of, helping us prepare for any type of event.  Hurricane Katrina has also shown us that the private sector plays a huge role in being able to respond and help our local jurisdiction recover.
So throughout the last few months, we have been working with a lot of local businesses to identify how they can be part of this process.  In that period of time, we’ve had these tragic events occur, and so that’s elevated our level of interest to speak to these companies.  I have reached out to the Public Utilities Commission, Commissioner Chong, and now Commissioner Simon—Timothy Simon—are both actively involved in working with myself and the Lt. Governor’s Office to address how we can better augment our whole alerting and warning system.  As the Lt. Governor pointed out, we believe that technology is there to do what we want to do, which is issue emergency messages as quickly as possible to all the impacted area and to the people who would be in that area.  And we’re bringing—we’re identifying the partners who can help us in this endeavor.

This is only part of a bigger issue.  The alerting and warning system that we’re currently discussing will be an augmentation to what already exists and in addition to the other alerting and warning systems that we have in place, such as the Emergency Broadcast, the old Emergency Broadcast System that is now the Emergency Alert System, the Emergency Digital Emergency System, EDES, which is used right now to issue messages and broadcast them out to the community.  So this will be an augmentation of that.  But in addition to that, we also are continuing our outreach to what we call our operational areas, our 58 counties.  And through our law enforcement divisions, our fire divisions, we are in constant contact with our local first responders to make them be part of the process too.
In addition to that, we do have public education which is a very important component here.  We can’t do something like this without educating the public.  As we move further into this process, we’ll identify that there’s some real obstacles and some loopholes that we’ll have to jump through in order to make this system work.  The Lt. Governor pointed out one of the issues is language, while people may carry cell phones and may not speak English or understand it enough to get complex messages, so we need to look at other ways of communicating with people other than using words.  Symbols is one way to do this, alert tones, and such ads.  So as it was stated earlier, the Public Utilities Commission is taking the lead on the technology part of this which you believe is there.  Our office is going to take the lead on the protocols which we have had some experience before with working with CHP on the AMBER Alert projects.  So with that, I’ll just summarize now and maybe open it up for questions that you may have or my other panel members to address.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Just a few questions.  In terms of the augmentation issue, what would we be augmenting to again?

MR. RENTERIA:  Again, we have systems in place through our California Warning Center.  The Warning Center currently is a 24/7 organization within our office that is in direct contact with all 58, what we call public safety access points—the 911 centers of every county.  When local incidents occur at that local level, we receive information from the locals to the Warning Center, to put us on alert in case there is any state resources that are needed to be deployed to a local level.  We currently have a system in place called Dialogic.  Dialogic was purchased after the Tsunami incident of almost now two years ago to better send messages out to each of the operational areas.  Right now Dialogic is in place.  It is used to make warnings to all those who are subscribed to the Dialogic program.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who would be the folks?

MR. RENTERIA:  Primarily your first responder agencies—law enforcement, fire, emergency medical, the key decision makers, legislative people who have asked to be part of this system—so that messages go out now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. RENTERIA:  The general public is not part of the Dialogic.  That’s not in place now, but this is how we would augment that population.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Legislators also are part of this?


MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely.  We have asked any legislator who wants to be part of being notified of an event that’s happening in your district, all you have to do is sign up to be part of the system by giving us your cell phone, your PDA, your pager number.  And right now, we have several who are part of that process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me give you a practical application of this for today’s hearing, and I’d like you to answer as forthright as possible.  There was a shooting in Fresno on a campus 24 hours ago.  Does the Warning Center know about it?


MR. RENTERIA:  The Warning Center did know about it.  We were notified through the normal law enforcement channels.  We were notified in order to address any mutual aid issues which Chief Simpson is part of that process.


SENATOR DENHAM:  May I stop you real quickly?  How does the notification start?  Who notified you?  What agency?

MR. RENTERIA:  The notification starts from the local law enforcement agencies, local fire agencies.  Local, what we call public safety access points, the PSAP.  PSAPs are your 911 centers because we do have the ability to communicate back and forth with each of the counties.  If there’s an issue that’s happening at the local level, that notification could come to the Warning Center, especially if there’s an anticipated need of state resources.


SENATOR DENHAM:  911 Warning Center?


MR. RENTERIA:  911 Warning Center, yes.


SENATOR DENHAM:  So in a situation like Senator Florez brought up, there’s a shooting.  The first responder on site, let’s say it’s the Sheriff’s Department, would call 911; 911 would call OES?


MR. RENTERIA:  The 911 is tied in with local law and fire.  So those are your dispatch centers.  We have duty officers that are assigned to each of the regions and each of the counties.  A duty officer could be notified through that process.  Therefore, they in turn would notify and let the Warning Center know if something is happening.  But let me also point out something very important here.  This particular type of event is a law enforcement issue, law enforcement response even, and this goes back to the protocol issue.  We would not necessarily start blasting information out without local law enforcement who is in control of the situation, giving us the information we need to blast out.  So this is where the protocols come in.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is a ground-up protocol?

MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.  One question.  Let’s take this as a broader catastrophe then.  Let’s assume for a second—we’ve talked a lot over the last couple of years about a levy breaking here in Sacramento.  If a levy were to break, what would be the response from OES?  Who would call you?  Who would you call?  How would that information get out to the first responders as the coordinating agency?


MR. RENTERIA:  Let’s use the one scenario.  A leak is spotted in a levy that’s going to eventually erupt into a major event.  Once a local government, local special district, local responders notified of an event that could have catastrophic implications, there is a process in place where notifications go from the lowest level, the local government, special district, through the city or special district, to the counties, and to the state through this system that we have in place for alerting the warning.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And what type of system is this?  Is it phone calls…


MR. RENTERIA:  Telephone.


SENATOR DENHAM:  …computer?

MR. RENTERIA:  It could be radio; it could be email system.  I mean, different jurisdictions use different events.  But we do have backups to all of those systems.  So let’s say, for this case, it will be radio systems that are radioed into the local 911 center.  That 911 center will then notify the State Warning Center of a potential problem of the levy about to break.  Once we receive that notification, we blast out the messages we need to all of the responding agencies that would have an interest in that particular type of event—from the Water Resources, CHP, Caltrans, Emergency Medical Services—all the major agencies involved.  They would then use their protocols to start ramping up for a response, whether that means sending people into help rescue, setting up shelters, whatever the case may be.

SENATOR DENHAM:  So if I understand you correctly, let’s assume we had an earthquake and the levy breaks, water is rushing towards Sacramento, somebody is going to call you and say, the levy has now broke, water is coming your way.  And I would assume from your testimony that OES would then say, let’s analyze the situation and figure out where the water is going and then start calling those agencies.  Those agencies will then call local government.  Local government will then call schools who will then call parents.


MR. RENTERIA:  I wish it was that simple, but you’re right on track.  That is what the process is.  Of course, there’s a lot of extenuating circumstances.  First of all, an earthquake would be self-notifying.  People would know an earthquake has happened.  The earthquake would have various different impacts throughout a whole region.  Levies are only going to be one part of it.  So that becomes a little more difficult for them to analyze what’s happening throughout the region by our field information, coming from our local responders.


Our first set of eyes and ears in any type of event is local law enforcement, local fire, and the general public, which is another reason this project is going to be somewhat interesting because the public may then become also a way for us receiving information.  So that will have even…

SENATOR DENHAM:  My question, as I propose it, doesn’t seem simple to me.  I think that’s part of our problem here.  If there’s a wave of water rushing towards Sacramento, I wouldn’t feel safe if my kids were at a school, knowing that somebody’s going to have to call OES, who’s going to call the sheriffs, who’s going to call the city, the county, and eventually the school.  And hopefully the school, sometime by the end of the day, is going to call me and say, come pick up your kid.  They’ve been washed away.

MR. RENTERIA:  No.  It doesn’t quite work that way because…

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  ...pick them up.

MR. RENTERIA:  …in that scenario.  In that scenario, also, again, there are other systems that notify.  Schools, for instance, are being given through federal law, National Weather Service radios that are going to be issuing emergency weather-related information.  Those radios are also capable of delivering the type of message that you just alluded to.  So there is a way that those messages can go out even before they come from the other systems that I just described.  So local schools—and this goes back to the importance of local schools having plans, plans in place—that they have tested, procedures and protocols in place, that they have drilled and tested on, so that if any type of emergency happens, they know what needs to happen.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I don’t dispute the fact that our schools need to have an emergency plan.  I think that that is evident that is something in need here.  That’s part of this hearing.  But I think the overarching issue of this hearing is, if we have an emergency, how do we let everybody know as quickly as possible?  And the coordinating agency, I would assume, would be that agency that would be able to get that message out expeditiously.  And under the current system, we’re using radios, cell phones, computers, many different things.  We don’t have one system.  It’s good to have several backups, but it would be my belief that we would need one system so that if there’s an emergency going to affect the entire region, then OES can call all first responders with one call and say, this is the situation; respond immediately.  So regardless, if there’s no sheriffs in the area, maybe there’s an ambulance or a fire truck or police that can respond.  It is my understanding that we don’t have a coordinated system to be able to do that today.


MR. RENTERIA:  We do not have one system, one radio system, that everyone uses.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Why?


MR. RENTERIA:  First of all, there’s issues with topography in California, the number of agencies that we have, the different systems, the proprietary systems that are used by local governments.  I come from local government.  I’ve spent 19 years there, and one of the issues we had in my old jurisdiction was that the city bought certain types of radios from one vendor.  The county bought them from a different vendor, so they weren’t compatible.  And that’s what we’re trying to address now under the Interoperability ?? Project, is to prevent that from happening.  And if you do have two different vendors, that those vendors have the protocols in place and the technology in place that allow systems to talk to teach other.  And that’s part of the Interoperability Project.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, it sounds like you’re the perfect person.  If you worked in local government first and understand that problem now being in charge of OES that coordinates all of the various agencies, aren’t you now in a position to be able to say, we’re going to put this out for bid; we want one technology that can coordinate; whether it’s from different vendors or not, we ought to have one technology that goes across the state or across the region so that we can send out a message immediately?

MR. RENTERIA:  Correct.  And that is some of the things that we’re working on right now.  And the federal government is helping us too with this P-25 protocols and technology that’s being offered through the federal government, so we’re all working…

SENATOR DENHAM:  If it’s something we’re working on right now, what is our timeline?


MR. RENTERIA:  Oh, God.  It depends on what you’re talking about.


SENATOR DENHAM:  I’m talking about one system that is able to allow your department to coordinate with all agencies instantaneously.


MR. RENTERIA:  One system that allows all to coordinate with all agencies instantaneously, I think part of that is in place now with the protocols we have in place.  It depends on the type of event.  Right now, we have the ability to communicate with every single county in the State of California.  Today, if you needed a message sent out right now, I can do that today, to every law enforcement and every fire agency in the State of California, via the counties.  I do not have the ability to contact every private-sector agency, every hospital, every special district—not yet—but part of what we’re talking about here is getting us closer to that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me—you have any more questions?


SENATOR DENHAM:  Well, I have more, but go ahead.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  It’s okay.  When you say, not yet, maybe just follow up on Senator Denham’s question, is, then when?  I think that’s the question of the day that he’s asking.  I mean, at what point do we have—we’ve had these discussions about tsunamis, and we had this discussion after Columbine, and we had a bill that was signed; $100 million went to upgrade school plans.  And then prior to that, after Stockton, we had gun legislation.  Ten years prior to that, 20 years.  I guess the question is, When do we—as Senator Denham says—when do we have this in place, period?  What’s the due date on this, or is there’s just lot of plans that lay on top of each other?

MR. RENTERIA:  I think the process is ongoing.  It never ends.  I mean, there’s always going to be—you always want to get better at what you do.  In every disaster that happens, we learn new things that didn’t occur the time before.  So one way to answer the question is, it doesn’t ever end.  We always continue to build.  On the other hand—and let me start with this project here—I have confidence, especially at this early part in our discussions with the private sector, that this type of learning and warning system for the general public, use of cell phone technology, could be in place within 12 to 24 months.  I think that is doable.  The Interoperability Project, the report that just came out to the legislature, we do have a ten-year plan to replace all the radios in the state, and there are workings going on at the local level to upgrade their system to make them compatible with the state, so we’re looking at a ten-year project there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is this something we just bid out to the private companies  Would you say, look, this is a system that we want?  We want a seamless, one-message, across-the-board notification system?  I mean, is this just too big for government, or is this something we should just throw out in a bid to the private sector and say, create it?


MR. RENTERIA:  That’s a good question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s not to say that our computer systems have been not workable in the state but they haven’t.


SENATOR DENHAM:  It’s beyond just a good question.  This is something that you’re working on currently that we should have a timeline to fix.  We can’t wait for another catastrophe before we have OES, the one agency that coordinates with all agencies, able to respond instantaneously to all different departments across the state or across the region.  I mean, we’re talking now that private industry once again is going to get the jump on government and we’re going to be in a situation, because of cell phone technology, in the next 12 to 18 months, where we’re now going to be able to send out a message, any region, to all civilians, to all people that have a cell phone, so that they can instantaneously know of the emergency, but yet our own government agency, OES, will not be able to coordinate instantaneously with all of the first responders that will need to respond to that event.  So my concern is that here we may have new technology, which is a good thing, to let the public know that we have an emergency situation which could create in itself mass hysteria of people trying to evade whatever that emergency is and yet we may not have local law enforcement or local public safety able to respond because they haven’t got the message yet.


MR. RENTERIA:  No.  That’s not what I said, Senator.  We can coordinate and communicate now with local law enforcement.  That is what we do.  We do that now.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Instantaneously?


MR. RENTERIA:  Yes, we do.


SENATOR DENHAM:  To all agencies?


MR. RENTERIA:  All agencies, yes, local government agencies.


SENATOR DENHAM:  If there was an emergency here in the Sacramento area, you could respond to sheriff, police, fire, ambulance, all in one call?


MR. RENTERIA:  Yes, we could.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Because they’re all on the same radios?


MR. RENTERIA:  They’re all on the same radio.  We have systems in place to communicate to all local government.  Do I have one radio that I can pick up and have the same channel for all people?  No, I do not have that.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Would it be helpful?  Would you be able to do it quicker…


MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely.


SENATOR DENHAM:  …if you had everybody on one radio?


MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely.  Of course, it would be helpful.


SENATOR DENHAM:   I think that’s the question of the day.  Rather than continuing on each catastrophe each time our state is facing an emergency situation, why not put out to bid to have one type of response system so that OES can respond to everybody all at once with one call rather than calling several different agencies to respond?

MR. RENTERIA:  We don’t call several different agencies to respond.  We have systems in place now that I can send a message out, one message, from one place, to all 58 counties at the same time.


SENATOR DENHAM:  How?


MR. RENTERIA:  It’s called the California Warning and Alert System.  It’s part of the national warning system that was put in place by the federal government during the civil defense era.  It is a system where messages can be sent from the federal government, to the state government, to local governments through one seamless process.  That is in place now and always has been in place and will continue to be in place.  What we’re talking about here is adding to that.


SENATOR DENHAM:  It sounds to me like you’re defending the federal government when there are still big gaps in place.  Homeland Security did not provide the dollars necessary, as you said, to put each of the different agencies all on the same frequency so we can send one message to everybody, whether that’s nationally, whether that’s across our state, whether it’s county by county—we do not have one system to date that you can call, whether it’s by phone or whatever venue it is, so that you can coordinate everybody else on the same page.  As you said in your testimony, when we’re working on local government, the local police department may have a different frequency or different technology than the Sheriff’s Department or the Fire Department.  So even if there’s a system in place, it appears it’s not a great system.


MR. RENTERIA:  There’s a system in place for us to communicate.  If I’m hearing your question correctly, do I have the ability to communicate with local government?  The answer is yes.  We have that ability now.


SENATOR DENHAM:  How quick?  If there was an emergency right now, how quickly could you respond to all local government?


MR. RENTERIA:  As soon as we have the information, within minutes, seconds, in some cases.  It takes—I do not have to sit down and call every single county.  I pick up one system, one phone, or one computerized email-type system that will go to all the counties instantaneously.


SENATOR DENHAM:  How?  How do they get that message?  Is there a dispatcher somewhere that gives them that message?


MR. RENTERIA:  We have a dispatcher at our California State Warning Center who receives that information or who has the information, puts it together in the format that it’s going to go out, and through one message can be sent to all 58 counties at once.

SENATOR DENHAM:  How do you send the same message to all counties if the Police Department and the sheriffs are not on the same wavelengths?


MR. RENTERIA:  What I said earlier about not being the same, it’s different radio systems.  As far as communication systems from the state to the locals, we have the ability to send it out regardless of what system you use, whether you have one type of email system, whether you have one type of pager, whether you have one type of radio.  Our State Warning Center has a hard-line and an electronic-line communication with each individual county.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Should everybody be on the same system?


MR. RENTERIA:  What are you referring to as system?

SENATOR DENHAM:  In a perfect world, would they all be on the same system?

MR. RENTERIA:  We are on the same system communicating.  Do we have the same vendor that we use?  No, we don’t have the same vendor that we use.  Different jurisdictions use different vendors.  That’s where the technology issue comes in.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  Let’s go back to Senator Florez’s example.  Let’s say that there’s a shooting, and the Sheriff’s Department is the first one on the scene.  Can they pick up their radio and call the local police department?


MR. RENTERIA:  They have a way to communicate with the local police department, yes, and that’s because of their own local agreements they have in place and the fact these people work together.


SENATOR DENHAM:  So it’s a local agreement that would go through a local dispatcher?  It would not be—there is a shooting in Fresno and the Sheriff’s Department and the Police Department both know at the same; whoever is going to get that phone call, correct?


MR. RENTERIA:  You want to address the protocols that the local law enforcement uses?


SENATOR DENHAM:  My concern here that I want to see addressed is that we are now possibly implementing a new cell phone technology, possibly, that over the next 12 months instantaneously the public will be aware of whatever the emergency is.  Now that’s a great thing.  But I think, under this scenario, the public will know before our public safety does, or at least from a concerted effort.  Maybe public safety will have cell phones too and be able to beat government technology, but it doesn’t seem that the government technology is there, regardless if it is funding or politics or what have you to get everybody on the same page.


MR. RENTERIA:  Let’s address the protocols at the local level first and how law enforcement works in the scenario that you just gave.


MR. CHARLIE SIMPSON:  At the local level, there’s a response…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Can you turn your mike on, please?


MR. SIMPSON:  At the local level, there’s a response setup, an agreement, or procedures in place for local agencies to communicate with each other.  That’s been supplanted here in the last few years by Homeland Security to put interoperability boxes in each county.  That is the system that allows local agencies, local response agencies, to talk to each other on differing frequencies.  That issue is, in my mind, separate from the alerting and warning that you’re talking about giving to citizens of the local affected area.

There is a system in place for local agencies, local responders, to talk to each other.  Those have been set up since the invention of radio.  Yes, there’s been areas where there are differing frequencies; there are topography problems.  We’re working towards that, finding a solution for that.  But a simple statewide, one message to every police car, every ambulance, every fire truck isn’t necessarily feasible at this point.  What we need to do is make sure that the local responders talk to each other, provide that safety information for the public safety officials going into an affected or dangerous area, and then communicate that information out to the operational area, then to the state.


MR. ERIC LAMOUREUX:  If I could add, there are, to get back to your original hypothetical in the levy situation, Senator…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you identify yourself?


MR. LAMOUREUX:  I’m sorry.  Eric Lamoureux, chief public information for OES.  With our standardized emergency management system, there are local emergency plans in place and notification procedures in place, our local officials at operational areas to be able to notify the individuals in special districts within their region.  They don’t have to send the information to OES for us to turn it around to get it back to those districts.  Mr. Botterell is here with you today, and Contra Costa County’s got one of the leading local systems in terms of the wording and notifying in their local area and can talk more to that local plan.

Our job at the state level is to ensure that surrounding regional local governments are aware of it as well as the state agencies that may need to provide support for that local government.  It’s not our responsibility to notify those local individuals.  With the way the system is set up in California, that is the responsibility of local government, and that’s taking place oftentimes on a parallel path to them notifying us and to our Warning Center.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  That actually, I think, is a good example of what my concern is.  We do have plans and procedures in place, and I know that those plans and procedures have been improved over the years.  But as you just said, not our responsibility if it’s a local issue.  My concern is that we could have an emergency situation where OES needs to get the message out to a wide range of people instantaneously, and we are unable to do that.  And now we’re looking at technology that over the next 12 months we will have the public able to receive a text message or phone call that says, we have an emergency.


Now wouldn’t it make sense if we also had at the very, exact same time that OES sends out a message to the public that we also send out a message to law enforcement?  And the message may be completely different—we’ve got an emergency; public, be aware, go and stay indoors.  Public safety, we have a situation where there’s gunfire or there’s a fire where you want to let everybody know in public safety exactly what the problem is so that they can bring the correct equipment, the correct manpower, the correct safety equipment to be able to respond to that situation.  You’ve got two different messages here.  And if you’re going to allow the public sector now to have an instant message, why wouldn’t you have an instant message for the public safety sector as well?


MR. RENTERIA:  I see where you’re coming from now.  Maybe I misunderstood you at first.  We do have the ability to issue messages to the local first responders—and this goes back to the protocol issue.  I don’t think it would be a wise thing for us to send messages out to the public without the first responders knowing what the situation is first.  That’s where the protocols come in.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And I would agree, but here’s the challenge:  We’ve got an emergency situation that’s happening instantaneously.  We want to get that message to the first responders so they can get there.  Why would we want to wait on the different agencies, the different local government, county government, state government to be able to respond to each other, to be able to get their message between all of the different networks and all of the different communication venues; and then, however long that period is, then come back and say, hey, public sector, this is what we found out half an hour ago or an hour ago or yesterday?


MR. RENTERIA:  But it would be a very…


SENATOR DENHAM:  Whatever that time length is because our government system is not as good as what the public system is.

MR. RENTERIA:  It will be a very rare, if nonexistent situation, where we would know something before the locals would.  The locals will always know that information before we do.  The locals are what’s driving the event.  The locals are providing the information to us.  We wouldn’t have information that the locals wouldn’t already have.  We depend on the locals to give us that information.  Am I making myself clear?


SENATOR DENHAM:  No, because who are you defining the locals as?


MR. RENTERIA:  The local governments where the incident has occurred.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Police Department?


MR. RENTERIA:  Police, fire, medical.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  The Police Department knows, and there’s an emergency situation…

MR. RENTERIA:  Correct.

SENATOR DENHAM:  …and we need to alert the public.

MR. RENTERIA:  The police would drive that message.  The local police would drive that message, not us.  We will help local police develop the protocols to drive that message, so why would the state put itself in a position to notify local residents when the local police chief is the one that has the control of the situation?


SENATOR DENHAM:  What if it’s a statewide issue?


MR. RENTERIA:  If it’s a statewide issue, then you’ve got a whole different scenario in place.  A statewide issue, we would already be working with the locals on their individual issues of their individual jurisdictions.  We are here to support the locals.  We wouldn’t be driving the event for them.  We’re here to support them.


SENATOR DENHAM:  I hear you defending our current technology when it is my understanding from talking to all of the different public safety agencies that they don’t have one communication device, that every different police, sheriff, fire, ambulance would be on a different system.


MR. RENTERIA:  Correct.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And here you’re trying to justify that those systems, you could operate with the current systems.


MR. RENTERIA:  Those systems operate at their local level.  They’re designed and developed to operate at the local level, and that’s what we encourage that to continue.  This is all about locals working together also.


Now what we have done since, actually since 9/11, is developed the Gateway Project, and that’s where the state has come in to help the locals.  The black boxes that we refer to, the Gateway Project, the state—through funding through Homeland Security—has developed those, that technology, provided it to the locals, and these boxes literally, when the agencies are responding, the outside agencies can plug into those boxes and the radios talk to each other.  That’s the system we have in place now that we did not have four or five years ago.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And where are these boxes at?


MR. RENTERIA:  They are either located in each region, all six mutual aid regions up and down the state.  We have approximately 168 of them already deployed.  We’re purchasing more.


SENATOR DENHAM:  In the 168 areas, they can come in and they can plug into a box?


MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely, absolutely.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  What about the rest of the state?


MR. RENTERIA:  One hundred and sixty areas are the mutual aid response areas.  And we’ve identified them by the highest priority for type of disaster that occur, the high-risk areas.  Eventually that plan is to expand these things to include all the areas that we’re not reaching now, but I think we’ve made a very good dent on this whole process.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Let’s just assume for a second, it’s a statewide emergency.  The governor makes a decision that he wants to alert the public.  With this new system in place, he’s going to be able to alert the public instantaneously, correct?

MR. RENTERIA:  Correct.

SENATOR DENHAM:  What if he makes it the same time the decision that I want to let public safety around the state, send them a message?  Can he do that today?

MR. RENTERIA:  Yes, he can.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Instantaneously?

MR. RENTERIA:  Yes, he can.  We can communicate with all of our local first responders through our California State Warning Center.

SENATOR DENHAM:  As quick as you would be able to do under the cell phone issue?

MR. RENTERIA:  If not quicker, because we’re not having to deal with the general public.

SENATOR DENHAM:  I’d like to have you lay that out for me, okay?

MR. RENTERIA:  I’d be more than happy to.

SENATOR DENHAM:  It doesn’t need to be done today, but I would like to…

MR. RENTERIA:  I can explain that to you.

SENATOR DENHAM:  If you can draw that out on paper…

MR. RENTERIA:  I can.

SENATOR DENHAM:  …and show this committee because everything I have heard from local agencies around the state, one of the biggest problems that they have is not being able to communicate between different departments.

MR. RENTERIA:  Different radios.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Both in our state, and Senator John McCain would say the biggest problem nationally is in the last Homeland Security Bill, we did not fund that sector so that across the nation for Homeland Security, we cannot do the same thing, which I think is a case in point in the Virginia Tech situation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a couple of questions.  So I think it’s safe to say, that from a public-to-public notification, you have that in place thus far?


MR. RENTERIA:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The issue for today is whether or not on classroom or schoolyard—it can be anywhere—but today we’re focusing, if you will, on our universities.  You know, whether or not we have the technology necessary, from a local level to get to them a message, and I think that ultimately is the gist of what we’re trying to get to this morning.

Let me just ask a threshold question for any of you—and I do want to hear some of your testimony—but should the legislature and the governor mandate that colleges, community colleges, have an emergency text messaging system in place?  I mean, is this something that we just absolutely say, you know, in order to get state funding, and that includes UC and their autonomy as well, you must have in place a text messaging system that ultimately provides local law enforcement the ability, when they pull the trigger and say this has to be—students need to be notified immediately—should that be in place?  I mean, is this where we’re going?  We heard Lt. Governor Garamendi talk about the PUC moving in that direction.  But from a legislative point of view—this is the committee that oversees Emergency Services—just your perspective, Mr. Renteria.


MR. RENTERIA:  Well, you know, again, I’ve always said, in order to make something work in the field of emergency management, you have to have a vision, you have to have money, and you have to have political will.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. RENTERIA:  And so all those three things are part of the process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In this half of the legislature, how it works, is you either have to have crisis or bad press to make this thing work, and in this case you have both.  And so from our perspective, this is the only thing that seems to move the legislature.  And from your perspective, obviously the three that you’ve mentioned, all seem to be, all those ingredients seem to be here at this point in time.  So what do we do—and we’re only going to pick off a little bit of this at a time.  Universities and colleges are, for the most part, state funded, and then I’m not Stanford and others wouldn’t have the wherewithal to then follow.  But what do you think?  I mean, is this something we simply say…


MR. RENTERIA:  Personally, I think we also need to hear from the people here who represent the colleges because I think…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re going to ask, before they…


MR. RENTERIA:  No, no.  What I’m leading up to is that what they have done already, there’s a lot in place that they have on their own and through other mandates that we have through the emergency management and through planning…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But are you tied into the students, the students right now?  You’re not?


MR. RENTERIA:  I’m not, no.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are local agencies tied into every student?


MR. RENTERIA:  That’s a case by case.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, every student?


MR. RENTERIA:  Well, no.  Like in the case of Virginia Tech, they did have the ability to send email at every student that was registered.  So there are some colleges who do have some systems in place now?  And so what we’re looking here is to augment that and add to it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. RENTERIA:  So I think there are colleges that are doing things now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. RENTERIA:  But at some point, if we augment and add, we’re going to ask you to help coordinate.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you have the capacity now at OES to provide those types of coordinations, either at the local level, working with law enforcement and first responders?  I mean, is this something that’s going to be bottom up, or is this something that’s going to be driven top down?  Money-wise, I understand it’s top down.  Bottom up, the question is…


MR. RENTERIA:  All emergency management is bottom up.  All disasters start at the local level.  They’re all driven by the locals.  And having been in local government for 19 years, I know very clearly what the role of the state and federal governments are in responding to local events.  And local governments have that control and have the responsibility to protect their citizens.  We are there to support them, to help them at preparing and responding.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do campuses now forward their safety plans to you, OES, for review or peer review?  Or do they do through the locals?


MR. RENTERIA:  The way the system is set up are operational areas which our counties have local operational area disaster councils.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. RENTERIA:  Local universities, especially state universities, are part of that process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I won’t ask you how many times those councils meet.  How many times do they meet?


MR. RENTERIA:  It depends on each council.  I know there’s some that meet monthly, others that meet quarterly.  The point being is that those plans are submitted through the operational areas.  We are currently reviewing all the operational area plans now that address some of these issues but certainly that some locals are doing better than…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Have you ever found an insufficient plan that’s been forwarded to you?  You review them, so I guess my test is, you looked at it and said, not sufficient.


MR. RENTERIA:  There have been some that we have pointed out some deficiencies, and we’ve worked with them to fix them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And have any of those deficiencies included our colleges and universities?


MR. RENTERIA:  Not that I’m aware of at this point, but I can find out for you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do we regularly review colleges and universities in those deficiency types of situations?


MR. RENTERIA:  We don’t specifically review colleges and universities that I’m aware of, unless they’re the state colleges that we work with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And just your viewpoint maybe—and I’m going to ask everyone else to comment on it—but in our colleges and universities, which is really the topic of today’s conversation, I mean, this room, I know when something goes bad, I push a button somewhere under this dais and five sergeants run in here.  I mean, are university classrooms equipped with such a system?  So in other words, a teacher, you know, you hear a bang and you look out your door and you see a guy coming down the hallway with a gun, do you have an ability, beyond picking your cell phone up and calling 911 and getting that system inundated?  Is there an ability to push a button in a classroom?  I know there are many points in the college campuses where there are boxes.  But do we actually have a box in the classroom?  And would that be something that OES would think would be valuable?


MR. RENTERIA:  That goes back to the protocol issue.  I think it’s something that needs to be addressed as part of the process because I do know there are some schools that do have some sort of panic-button systems and others that do not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the question is, who drives the protocol?  Do we drive the protocol here from Sacramento, or do the local agencies drive the protocol?  Or do the campuses come up with a plan that we ultimately review that will somehow get to you?  I mean, who’s driving this train, I guess, is the question.

MR. RENTERIA:  I think the state needs to play an integral part in driving protocols, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the notification for natural disasters—I’ll just kind of move a bit because, as much as the gunman can be in a dorm room, an earthquake can happen on the campus as well and buildings can fall and those things tend to occur in many cases.  Are you part of that system?


MR. RENTERIA:  Part?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The natural-disaster type of the environment?


MR. RENTERIA:  Absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s through the 58 counties, to law enforcement?  Locals report back to you and then you offer support?


MR. RENTERIA:  Human cause, natural cause disasters.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Telephone systems and TV station, those who don’t have the cell—we’re all relying on the cell phone technology at some point.  But are we coordinating at a state level with television stations in those events that you see a larger role?  And are we also coordinating with the, you know, if you will, the Public Broadcast System?  That’s the Lt. Governor ?? ?


MR. RENTERIA:  I think the media plays a huge role in this, and I’ll let Eric explain a little more what we are doing, but we have them at the table, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  All right.


Eric, can you give us…

MR. LAMOUREUX:  Obviously the Emergency Alert System is one of the systems that we oversee.  It’s technically run by the local Emergency Communication Commissions at the local level as well as the statewide Emergency Coordination Commission.  We are part of that process in ensuring that the EAS system is working through our 11 primary radio stations across the state.  In addition to that, EAS is supported by our Emergency Digital Information System that was developed after Loma Prieta.  That system is designed—the EAS is designed to get out that immediate action-required information; EDIS is designed to be able to provide follow-up text information, photos, or looking to incorporate video, additional information that emergency managers and the general public can use.


On another path, we’re currently working with the California Public Broadcast stations to utilize a portion of their high-definition spectrum that was outlined in legislation a couple years back, to be able to provide ongoing public information through those channels during a crisis situation.  So there’s a couple of different paths we’re working on with broadcasters right now to ensure that we’re able to get information out through them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Gentlemen, would you like to add anything as we go through this panel that you haven’t heard or some things that we should be thinking about as a committee?


MR. GARY WINUK:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Gary Winuk.  I’m the chief deputy director of the State Office of Homeland Security.


Really, the only thing I wanted to add today was to highlight a funding opportunity that’s available specifically for this purpose that’s coming up on its application deadline that we can make available to all of our local schools.  It’s put out through the federal department of education.  It’s called the Readiness in Emergency Management for Schools Grant Program.  It allows the purchasing of equipment, the developing of the types of plans we’re talking about today.  It requires integration with local plans, including local law enforcement.  It can provide up to a half million dollars for a local school district; 75 California school districts have taken advantage of it over the past few years.  The current application deadline is May 21 of this year.  Our office is available to provide technical assistance to any local school district that wants to apply.  So I just wanted to put that out there.  I know it’s relevant to people in their districts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a question on that.  Now this is $24 million of grant funds available to schools; and this is a national program?


MR. WINUK:  That’s correct, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That would be like a half a penny for every school if every school applied in the nation.  So I guess the question I would have is, Why isn’t the governor putting it in, $24 million, directly into the May revise if we care about this?


MR. WINUK:  Well, I won’t answer that question now.  The May revise hasn’t been released.  I just wanted to highlight this particular program just to take advantage of available funds.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It hasn’t been released, but I’m asking a question from OES’s perspective.  If we are—I mean, we were coming into the committee—and I thank you for telling us one great opportunity is, we ought to apply with the federal government to receive some of this very little funding, $24 million, for the nation.  I guess my question would be, if you see an opportunity and a reason to apply, then why aren’t we using that same application and sending it to Mike Genest in the Department of Finance?

MR. WINUK:  The only thing I would add, Senator, is there is, under the federal Homeland Security money that our office administers, the opportunity to do that type of planning and training and exercising for that type of purpose…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are we applying?  Are we applying?


MR. WINUK:  I’m sorry, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are we applying for these grants?  You’ve mentioned them.


MR. WINUK:  You know, an individual school district needs to apply on its own for the competitive grant.  What we do is obviously make people aware of it, and it also provides technical assistance in applying if a school district meets the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  So these are school districts applying for these funds, not the state applying for a block of funds?


MR. WINUK:  That’s correct, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, okay.


SENATOR DENHAM:  They’re applying for technology or for training?


MR. WINUK:  You can apply for both.  You need to develop a plan that has the input and sign off, if you will, of the local first responders.


SENATOR DENHAM:  What type of equipment are you, is your criteria set up for?


MR. WINUK:  Well, Senator, they’re actually not our criteria.  They’re set up by the federal Department of Education.  I do now have the equipment list with me, though.  I believe the interoperable communications equipment is one of the eligible ______.

SENATOR DENHAM:  I guess my question is, and I think Senator Florez is going in the same direction as well, is, we’re trying to figure out exactly what our state role is here.  Do we need to have a mandate for all of our higher education schools?  Do we need to have a mandate for local government?  As local government continues to apply for funds or schools are applying for this grant, should they not all be getting onto the same technology so that we can stop, you know, the individual bid process where everybody is getting different technology but not being able to communicate effectively?  And maybe effectively is the wrong word.  Could we do it better?  Could we do it better if we had everybody on the same systems?


MR. WINUK:  I think that’s a very interesting question, that I have posed that also to the technology folks because I’m not a technology person.  I don’t understand the different systems and the radio systems.  That’s one of the challenges that I think the industry has to work with us on too, is, I don’t know how compatible these systems are; I don’ t know what the different systems that are in place now, the infrastructure that’s in place now, what it can support.  But that’s why we’re bringing them to the table to ask those same questions from them.  So I think in some cases, the answer may be no.  Maybe there does need to be separate systems because of the topography and the communication protocols that are in place and the people that it serves.  But can we make them—how do we tie them in together?  That’s what I think the challenges are of the committees that are in place now, the Public Safety Radio Communications Committee and the California CALSEEC ??, the other group that both these committees that are working on the interoperability issues.  Those are the questions that are being brought to those committees.  And we have representation from state government, local government; we have the federal government involved also.  So we are working towards that, and I’d like an opportunity to explain that to you, maybe offline.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Botterell, do you have something to offer as well?


MR. ART BOTTERELL:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, Senators.  My name is Art Botterell.  I am currently the Community Warning System manager for the Office of the Sheriff in Contra Costa County.  I think I can and modestly say that Contra Costa County has the most advanced, integrated, comprehensive, all-hazard warning system in the state, and I can say that because I inherited it.  I didn’t build it.  I am also a member of the Federal Communication Commission’s Commercial Mobile Service Alerting Advisory Committee.  I’m a former telecommunications coordinator for the Office of Emergency Services back at the time of Loma Prieta and thereafter and a former public affairs officer for FEMA.


That said, so many important things have been raised here, and I hope that there will be as much time—probably not today but as much time—for the local perspective to be heard as there has been, sort of the state level administrative issues because, frankly, and as Director Renteria has pointed out, things do look a little different from different points of view.


I did not come here this morning to talk about interoperability, so let me simply make one comment on that since it is a related threat and has taken quite a bit of time this morning, which is, that interoperability is not only—it is not even primarily—a technology problem.  We have had the ability to establish interoperable links, smaller versions of those black boxes you heard about, well, since I was running around OES 20 years ago.  That technology has existed for a very long time.  But simply putting everybody on a giant party line creates more problems than it solves, unless you also address the procedural, the human factors, and the organization, and in some cases, even the cultural-level issues.  So I think the idea that a single technology procurement could somehow solve the interoperability problem—well, I’m sure technology vendors are fond of that perspective, but I’m not really sure it’s in the public interest.


Related to that, I’d like to address the question that Chairman Florez asked, Should there be a state mandate for a text messaging system on campuses, and I have to respectfully say, no, sir.  There might well be—it might well be appropriate for there to be a mandate for effective warning systems.  But I think there are two basic problems with tying it to a specific technology.  The first is a general one which is the technology changes but law persists.  And so writing technology into law almost always creates problems within only a few years as the technology advances.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  There are always anxious members here, and they introduce bills that change those laws, believe me.


MR. BOTTERELL:  Well, I can imagine you create a great deal of work when, you know, when you do that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Without any laws, what happens?


MR. BOTTERELL:  Well, I think the question is whether the law should address specific technologies or whether it should address social outcomes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  So what should we do as we’re waiting for some social outcome to occur?


MR. BOTTERELL:  I don’t think you want to wait for a social outcome to occur.  That was the point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do we get folks to do that then?


MR. BOTTERELL:  By, I would say, enacting legislation or regulation or whatever the mechanism that’s appropriate to call for the establishment of the effective warning systems but not dictate particular technology.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Good.

MR. BOTTERELL:  All right.  Historically, warning in the United States has been treated as a subsidiary function to particular disciplines—to fire, to public safety disciplines, to hazardous materials disciplines.  The result has been both technological stovepipes and a lack of coherent policy.  But warning is really not different, whether you’re warning for a fire or a hazardous-materials incident or a gunman on campus.  Warning is one of the most fundamental social activities, and that’s where I think my county has it right, in that identifying a comprehensive, all-hazard warning program rather than attaching it to particular hazards.  Nonetheless, we take resource opportunities where they arise.
Senator Denham, you’re exactly right.  The long pole in the tent here is not the delivery technology.  It’s the decision-making process, and so we have the ability to disseminate messages to large amounts of the public with lightening speed.  What takes us a little longer is deciding exactly what the message should be.  And I think, that as the research from the Virginia Tech incident emerges—and frankly, we don’t have a lot of data yet—we have a lot of anecdote—but as the picture really emerges, I think we’re going to see that a lot of the issues had to do with determining what message should be disseminated and getting that choice made quickly so we can’t just throw, again, we can’t just throw technology at the problem.  We also have to look at these policies and procedures and decision to support techniques.
SENATOR DENHAM:  If you could further explain that too, how you would get that message to the public right now, today, or how they could have gotten the message to Virginia Tech students.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Botterell’s second law of emergency management, sir.  The problem is at the input.  The problem in this case was not getting the message out.  The problem was that the message was not a given.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Let’s make the assumption that they had the right message that they wanted to get out to the public, how would they have done that?

MR. BOTTERELL:  The Emergency Alert System is a fairly efficient tool.  I believe I heard they actually had some siren systems on campus, cellular alerting, which certainly add to that, but I have to point out, sir, that that message was not, in fact, a given, and that itself is the assumption that I would ask you to examine carefully.
SENATOR DENHAM:  And we’re not looking at this just from a Virginia-tech type of perspective.  We’re looking at any type of disaster that could happen here in California.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR DENHAM:  How would we respond?  And if the message is the Emergency Broadcasting System—and I hope you’ve got a TV or radio on—that’s probably not suitable for alerting the entire public.

MR. BOTTERELL:  It isn’t, and you bring me to the other really crucial point.  I said there were two reasons not to mandate a particular technology but, rather, to mandate an effective methodology.  If you look at the social science research—and there’s actually been quite a lot done on what makes warnings effective, as measured either by public compliance with instruction or whatever measures of ultimate outcomes are available.  One of the things that becomes crystal clear—and it’s totally common sense once it’s proven by science—is that people don’t act on a single-warning message from a single channel.  They simply don’t.

Now there’s a bit of good news here, which is, it means that it is a lot harder to panic the public than we sometimes believe.  In fact, the difficulty is getting the public to respond to a message at all.  So when someone receives a message that is out of the ordinary and that they can’t corroborate by looking out the window and they see a tornado, if it’s not one of those, they tend not to take protective action.  They tend to look for corroboration.  They want to double check and make sure that it’s not a false alarm; it’s not a hoax.  So they start checking other channels.  If the other channels reinforce the primary message, then after a certain number of impressions, they will begin to act.  If they turn on the TV and there’s nothing and they ask their resident advisor and he or she doesn’t know anything and they get no reinforcement, there’s a high probability that they’re going to discount a single message.  So from an effectiveness standpoint, the challenge is not to leverage any one technology, although you’re absolutely right—no one technology reaches everyone always, all the time.  So there is an argument for technological diversity just on the questions of reach and also reliability.  But aside from that, looking at the basic psychology, basic human nature of the people we’re trying to serve, it turns out that it’s crucially important that these warning systems be coordinated across multiple media.  This is in fact what the state’s EDIS network attempts to do.  This is what the Department of Homeland Security is doing with their integrated Public Alert and Warning System.  It’s what the National Weather Service is doing with their HAS ?? Collect Program.  This is a general trend in warning systems.
So what I would say is, while cellular alerting is an important technology and, parenthetically, in Contra Costa County, we have been experimenting, with all respect to the Lt. Governor, I would suggest is actually a third model of cellular alerting.  There’s actually another approach to it that has some interesting advantages.  We’ve been actively experimenting with that but within the context of a coordinated multi-mode delivery system.  So once again, to come back to my theme, as with so many things, notwithstanding that there will be, you know, both enthusiasts and vendors who will try to sell us all a single magic bullet, notwithstanding—was it Menken, I think, said that thing about every complex problem has a solution that’s simple, obvious, and wrong, right?  I think despite all the considerable pressures to look for the simple fix to this problem, right, there is a fix which is simple in concept but does not provide a single check that somebody can write and declare victory.  It requires a strategy of using all these media together.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I’ve not heard anybody on this committee that’s advocated for one system.  I think that we are just trying to explore all alternatives and make sure that we have the quickest and most efficient response possible.  You know, I’m very intrigued by the new opportunities with the cell phone technology, but we’d never discount the fact that some people aren’t going to have cell phones.
MR. BOTTERELL:  Right.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Or that some people that have TVs—some people won’t have TVs or some people won’t have radios, that we may need to have a coordinated message on many different venues and many different types of technology.  I think the question here is, Should we have a coordinated effort, either by school, by city, by county, by region, across the state, so that whatever the emergency is, we can respond quickly and effectively?
MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Now you’ve testified that Contra Costa County has the most comprehensive system.  If you could explain why your system is better than other areas, what makes it the most comprehensive.
MR. BOTTERELL:  What makes it the most comprehensive is that we’ve had money to do it with.  In what way is it comprehensive?  The Contra Costa County Community Warning System integrates the capabilities of the Broadcast Emergency Alert System, the NOAA Weather Alerting Radio System, telephone alerting systems, what’s frequently referred to as Reverse 911, although that’s actually a trademark so we don’t use that term generically.  A variety of warning systems.  We’re right now working with a company that has a technology for location-based cellular alerting so that we can target messages not to people where they think they’re going to be but where they actually are or—and this is really intriguing—where they were at sometime in the recent past.  And so that if someone was, you know, at a restaurant yesterday and now we have a health issue, we could actually send a message to people just because they were there in the past and without—let me hasten to add—creating any privacy issues.  That’s done entirely on the individual handset.  That’s always a concern, so I want to get that in there.  But in any event, these technologies are available. They’re a little more complex than certainly what’s being evaluated in the FCC’s current rulemaking process which the Advisory Committee is going to report out in October and the expected rulemaking probably within the next six to nine months.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask you a question in your system, if I could, Senator Denham.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  At Fresno State, and obviously, it will be in the news tomorrow, and here we’re having this hearing.  If Fresno State had been in your county, how would this have worked?  I mean, it’s a real practical application of it.  I just didn’t say it because EJ walked in from the Fresno Bee, I promise, but timing is impeccable, and I think Senator Denham hit it right on the head when he said, you know, we’re going to keep applying this and you said you had the premiere system.  So this is really where the rubber hits the road.  If you have the premiere system, if I were to go to Fresno County and asked the same question of their emergency service folks, I’m real clear on what the state’s role here is.  But from a bottom-up perspective, what were to happen?

MR. BOTTERELL:  First off, I would not use the word premiere, and I certainly wouldn’t use the word perfect.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. BOTTERELL:  But I think we’ve got the best that actually exists and here’s why.  The county has a 7 by 24 Warning Duty Office whose only job is to support local agencies in the not-trivial tasks of figuring out what warning to issue, how to word it, where it target it. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. BOTTERELL:  You know, these are issues that the field-incident commander frequently doesn’t have a lot—they know what they’re intent is, but a lot of the methodology, they like to staff it out.

We have a single computer console on which we can plot.  If we can draw a circle, we can plot a complex, what they call a polygon, and then fill in a form with the message using an international standard called the common alerting protocol which gives us basically a template for what the essential elements of a warning message are.  So we can fill in that form.  We can say, you know, it’s this urgent; it’s this severe; it’s this certain; here’s the description of the problem; here’s what people should do; here’s where you go for more information, be it a website or radio or TV, whatever that information is.  We then submit it to a single warning system which in turn triggers sirens in the affected area, if that’s appropriate.  There’s a whole layer of policy—the Emergency Alert System—if the warning is that severe; telephone notification to that particular geographic area that was described; the weather radio alerting, I mentioned.  We have various other tools—low-power AM system; cellular alerting, as that becomes available, either through the system that we’re already experimenting with or something from the FCC or something that the state does, we will simply add that to this mix so that that message arrives on its target audience from every direction that we can…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  So then let’s go back to the original question.  How would this have worked in practicality?

MR. BOTTERELL:  In practicality…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  There’s a shooting.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Right.  The incident commander for the incident—and I won’t—let’s just posit that there is one.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure, sure.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Would say, this is what we have, this is what we want to do. Now that’s the decision-making step that isn’t trivial, deciding what is the right thing to do, particularly with limited information, is not trivial.  But once that decision is made, what behavior do we want from the public?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.

MR. BOTTERELL:  He would then contact—what they do is, they actually contact the county dispatch center which they can do by radio, although usually they do it by telephone, right?  They would contact the warning-duty officer who is, if it’s not during business hours and we’re not physically right there, would be contacted either by radio or telephone—we actually also have a computer network.  We would then talk directly to the incident commander to make sure that no errors have crept in during that game of telephone.

He would say, all right.  This is what I want to do.  We would say, this is what we propose to send.  Is that good for you?  Because that message is going out on that person’s authority.  We push the button and it happens.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And when it happens, what happens?

MR. BOTTERELL:  The telephones start ringing; and depending on the location, sirens start sounding and weather radios start going off.  Again, what exactly happens depends on…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The severity.

MR. BOTTERELL:  …the severity, the urgency, the timeframe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now what do you think should happen on an issue like Fresno State where there’s a shooting; it’s near campus, if you will, but it’s affecting the university?  Just from your perspective.

MR. BOTTERELL:  You’re taking me to the outer limits of my expertise because that’s almost an operational decision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ve gotcha.

MR. BOTTERELL:  But let me say this, generally speaking, there are only a couple of behaviors that we ask for from the public.  And the most common is what we call shelter in place or the way we bumper sticker it around our chemical facilities—which is why we have the funds in Contra Costa to do what a lot of other jurisdictions haven’t had a chance to do yet—shelter, shut, and listen.  That’s our slogan; that’s our whole training theme.  Take shelter, protect yourself, and gather more information, which is, of course, as we say, what people are going to tend to do anyway.  So the first thing we try to do is stabilize the population.

Now under some circumstances, the next step may be a selective evacuation; we want to move people out for a particular area.  But you typically don’t want to just say, everybody run pell-mell, okay?  It’s generally not a good strategy.  Sometimes it’s what you’ve got do.  You know, if a building is collapsing, you do.  But generally, the first thing we try to do is get the public to be aware and to be informed, you know, tighten their coupling to the information thing, and then we can say, okay; now we want people who are here to go to over there by means of this route.  So generally speaking, the first instruction for anything like that, is a shelter in place.  In the case of the VTI—and again, I don’t want to say more than I know—but there was also a significant population who were off campus at the time of the initial shootings who probably would have been better off if they had simply stayed home that day.  Again, that is a message that could have been delivered if the decision was made that that was the appropriate response.  What I will definitely not do is try to second guess the people who were making those decisions because I wasn’t there and they were and they knew all the variables.  These are not simple decisions.  Yes.

SENATOR DENHAM:  If we could do back to Contra Costa County for a second, you brought up your decision there with chemicals.  If there was some type of catastrophe and chemicals were airborne, could you alert all agencies at one time?

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, sir, because the public—actually the Public Warning System also serves responders.  So if nothing else—and it’s not the only way we do it, as Henry pointed out before—usually the information actually comes up from the local people.  There are only a very limited number of cases where we in this County Emergency Operation Center know more than the local jurisdictions do.  But in that case, the last resort would be, they would get the alert at the same time we would, or the same time that the public would.  We certainly try to coordinate, and we have intercom circuits of various technology to coordinate with the local officials so that they don’t get blindsided.  If we issue a warning, one of the things that’s going to happen is that’s going to create an uptick in 911 traffic at all the PSAPs ??.  We want the dispatchers to know what the message is about because, if you call 911 and they don’t know about it, what happens to the credibility of the initial message?  So this is all part of the effectiveness process.

SENATOR DENHAM:  But if you had an emergency situation with chemicals being released into the air, you could contact police, sheriff, fire, ambulance all in one call?

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, yes.

SENATOR DENHAM:  If this is the situation…

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR DENHAM:  …you’ll be able to alert all those different agencies?

MR. BOTTERELL:  Yes, we have a text messaging system based on both networks and packet radio redundantly that appears in all of the dispatch centers of all the cities and counties, and we can actually instant message.

SENATOR DENHAM:  What if there was an ocean breeze that was blowing those chemicals through the air into another county?  Can you coordinate with those other counties?

MR. BOTTERELL:  You raise a really interesting question, and it has to do with sort of the reciprocity of warning.  Well, this can easily happen.  If we have an incident at the refinery in Martinez, the breeze can easily blow across the Carqinez Straits to Benicia in Solano County, right?  We do have, as it happens, an agreement with Benicia because they are so close.  The usual emergency management protocol would be that there would be a county-to-county liaison, and then Solano County would work down through their own channels.

The law enforcement community in particular is very tightly meshed with local mutual aid and communication agreements, such as the one we have with Benicia.  So one of the things we try not to do is put all our eggs in any one systemic basket.  So there are a number of ways that that would happen.  The structure of government jurisdiction is very hierarchical and geographically very bounded, and incidents tend not to have any respect for any of that.  So, yes, this is a bit of an issue, but it’s merely a policy issue that can be worked out.  We have mutual-aid systems for…

SENATOR DENHAM:  And that’s why we’re here and having the committee hearings.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Exactly.

SENATOR DENHAM:  I think that we believe that there are technologies available.

MR. BOTTERELL:  Right.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And as you said, because Contra Costa County received the revenue, you were able to put the most comprehensive system in place.  I think one of the things that we’re looking at, from a statewide perspective, is, What are the systems that we should be utilizing, what is the cost associated with those, and how do we implement those as quickly as possible?  And if that requires legislation, if it requires additional money in the budget, if it requires the federal government putting more money into Homeland Security, we want to get those answers, and so far, we’re getting not a real coordinated message.

I understand that, you know, just by having the technology to alert the public, you may not want to alert the entire public.  You may want to alert—in Senator Florez’s example—you might want to just alert the students at Fresno State.  You might want to alert the students around Fresno State so they’re not coming onto campus.  But we should have those technologies in place, and we should be able to get that message out in a coordinated fashion, as you can in Contra Costa County, to our local agencies all at once, statewide.  So regardless of what the issue is—if it’s a statewide issue, maybe the governor wants to make the decision to get the message out to all responders immediately without having to go through plans, procedures, protocols hoping that somebody isn’t at lunch or that somebody isn’t picking up the phone.  Get it out there immediately and using several venues.

MR. BOTTERELL:  That’s one thing, in OES’s defense, not that they need me to defend them, but I’d say that’s one thing that they actually have a pretty good capability for doing currently.  But again, the point that I hear you making—and it’s a crucial one—is that it’s not just having delivery technologies.  It’s having the management system to drive those technologies so that the next time we’re here together, we’re not discussing why we spent all this money on a wonderful technology and people still didn’t get warned.  And believe me, I’ve been at that hearing more than once in my career.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Gentlemen, was there anything else you’d like to add before we—okay.  Mr. Renteria…
MR. RENTERIA:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  ..thank you, as usual.  Thank you very much.

Okay.  Let’s have our universities come up, if we could.  Valerie Lucus, Annette Spicuzza, Nate Johnson, David Huerta, and Craig Zachold.

Okay.  Let’s go ahead and let’s start.  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and begin.  Mr. Huerta, we brought you here at a time from Fresno State when something is occurring.  And I guess maybe just an update from your perspective and where we’re at on Fresno State, and then we’ll go onto the—and thank you for joining us.

MR. DAVID HUERTA:  Thank you very much.  At Fresno State, last night around 11 o’clock, off campus approximately a few blocks in a dorm environment—in a condominium, that is, was designed to house students in particular—there was a shooting.  Three people were shot by a gunman.  The gunman is not currently a student, to our knowledge.  However, two of the victims were, and one was to be enrolled in the fall.  One of them was mortally wounded; the other is in critical condition; and the other one sustained no-life threatening injuries and has been released from the hospital.

As we speak, the gunman has not been apprehended.  The Fresno Police Department SWAT team—I believe they had him contained.  And a few hours ago, when they entered the building, he was not there.  They are still negotiating with him, having some dialog.  He claims he’s going to turn himself in to his attorney, and that’s where we sit right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask some critical questions, and Senator Denham has some questions.  Just so I can understand the situation, the gunman is still at large?

MR. HUERTA:  Yes, sir.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the question I had, at least from the AP wire reports, is that the campus was still allowed to be open.

MR. HUERTA:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So how do we mix those two?  I mean, the warnings—I guess maybe the system was, he’s contained, so no worry to the students; you can go to class?  Now you told us that the gunman has not been apprehended and yet students, based on that acknowledgement, at least in the press or acknowledgement is that they could go to class.  Are students now on campus, and is that decision still binding?

MR. HUERTA:  Students were on campus at the time when the gunman was believed to be contained.  Since the student information has been released, a lot of discussion seem to come and go quite a bit.  We’ve had a lot of discussion regarding closing the campus.  The decision to close the campus is very close at this time.  However, the information that we’re receiving regarding the whereabouts of the wanted person are kind of—we’re holding back.  That is a very difficult decision, believe me.  I’ve got a real big headache right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  And I guess the question I have, you said also, as you began, that you’re still negotiating with…

MR. HUERTA:  The Fresno Police are talking to an attorney, his father, and…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, I see, not to the shooter himself?  Okay.  I understand.  So is it safe to say that the father knows the whereabouts of the shooter?

MR. HUERTA:  That would be an assumption that I couldn’t make at this time but…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’ve got a lot of cell phone execs in here, so maybe they can help us locate him, if the father knows through their GPS technology or something of that sort, is the reason I asked that.

MR. HUERTA:  Last night, through this process, Fresno Police Department initiated that process in an attempt to track the phone.  It comes back restricted, and they made contact with five different companies to try to track the phone; and in fact, they have not been able to.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m going to ask our phone companies what it means to be restricted when we’re in emergency situations to find, in this case, maybe a shooter or something we can track back, so I’ll give our cell companies fair warning that that will probably be the question I have.

The decision to keep the campus—I mean, obviously, you thought we had it contained; yet students went to classes.  Maybe the indicative part of immediate notification, because I think, as Senator Denham and I said, if you had found out that this shooter was not contained and indeed students are on campus today, and you do make the decision to close campus, the question is, How do you notify those students in some sort of mass way that allows them an orderly and non, if you will, panicked type of way to remove themselves from campus?  How does that process work, notification?
MR. HUERTA:  On our particular campus, we have an email, mass email, that can go out.  We have a radio station, 1040 AM, which is programmed out of my office.  We have list serves that are implemented.  We also have phone notification to building safety coordinators in each building, that they’re notified.  And it goes out through the phone system as well.  So today, that’s what we’re limited to.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do we have text—do we have cell phone numbers for at least students on campus as of today?

MR. HUERTA:  Not on our campus.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And would that be, from your vantage point today, a valuable tool to have?

MR. HUERTA:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I think that’s, suffice to say, that’s the issue that Senator Denham and I have, is that, you know, we do have technology available.  Obviously, we never can foresee when these things are going to occur.  But I’ve got to imagine, if every professor, you know, starts a course for the quarter, they can easily gather cell phone numbers from every student and forward those on to some centralized location which is enable, in the event of, to then have those readily available for your particular uses only.  And so maybe you want to add to that as well?  Sure.

MR. NATE JOHNSON:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Your name for the record.

MR. JOHNSON:  Nate Johnson, systemwide police coordinator for the California State University System, here representing the Chancellor’s Office today.  I guess our concern would be from a system…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me interrupt you for a moment.  And also, Mr. Huerta, please do not feel you have to sit at this table.  So any time you need to leave or anything that you need to do for the campus, please make yourself available to do that.

MR. JOHNSON:  From a systemwide perspective—and I want to first just put on my past emergency manager hat—prior to being the systemwide coordinator, I also served as chair of the Statewide Emergency Preparedness Task Force for the CSU.  And one, I think, thing that all emergency managers share is that redundancy is good.  So any time you can add another way of getting the message out to people, it’s always a good thing.  Our concern, though, is that we would hate to take away from the efforts at the local level where local campuses are communicating with a local operation center and they have systems in place that are intertwined and interlaced, and in sync with local activities.  So mandating any one thing and possibly pulling funding away from another system that may work better in a particular area for a particular campus may be of concern.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Gotcha.  It would be a concern if you hadn’t asked for money, but no one’s asked for money.

MR. JOHNSON:  Well, that’s next.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that’s the question, you know.  I mean, obviously it’s a concern when we try to pull from one place to the other.  But, you know, I know Senator Denham knows this, but the history of this place, as I mentioned earlier, is that we operate in two ways.  I’ve been around this building 20 years, and I can tell you bad press and crisis seem to drive the day after our Stockton shooting, when I was here, as a staffer, we talked a lot about gun control, and the law passed.  After Columbine, we passed a $100 million bill that Governor Davis signed—it was my bill—on school safety, quite frankly, and we did something, and then things dissipate, and now we find ourselves in this environment, weeks away from the May revise, and this would be that magic time for you to tell us what indeed it would take from a funding perspective to make sure that we had the necessary funding in this for university and college safety, particularly public universities.  And so I guess the question I have for all of you today is simply, you know, Are we sufficient at this point in time?

I mean, it seems to me that the Fresno State example—in no slight to Mr. Huerta at all is—you know, should we have had and should we have had those text messaging numbers or phone numbers or cell numbers, or at least a good majority of it?  And then, of course, the larger question is, How do we use it?  I’m not sure whether or not police, campus police, simply putting up at our entrances, campus closed, isn’t as effective as a text message.  For those students who are driving in a commuter school like Fresno State to campus today who have not idea at this point in time that it is closed, unless they’re listening to the radio—I know they’re not watching television in their car—but ultimately, are they then turning around once they get to the campus?  And are they being put in a situation where, you know, it’s probably best to stay in Hanford or best to stay in Sangor or best to stay in Mendota before heading onto the campus?  And maybe you can—would you agree, or what’s the funding?  What would you be funding at this point in time?  What would be valuable?
MR. JOHNSON:  Well, I can tell you that the vice-chancellor, Jackie McClain and Chancellor Reed, have really ramped up emergency preparedness efforts in particularly the last five to ten years or so, not only in the formation of SWEPT ?? but the drafting of executive orders…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But if Chancellor Reed were here today, I’d say, Why doesn’t Fresno State and our police chief have those text numbers right now?  That’s what I would say to them.
Is Mr. Reed here?

Okay.  But I guess the point is, you know, that’s the issue.  We’re going to talk a lot about revamping and doing quite a bit; but until something happens, then we go, oh, yeah, maybe we shoulda, woulda…

MR. JOHNSON:  Well, if I could just comment then on technology.  One of the things I echo, what Chief Huerta said already, but also some of the campus has invested in a system called Connect-ED, for example, that allows such messages to go out to various different mediums and various different sources.  But even with such an elaborate system as that, which is not inexpensive, an elaborate system as that, it still requires a voluntary registration and subscription to the service.  And so even with the system, we still have the human error factor; we still have people who don’t believe it will ever happen to them; and therefore, why waste the time.  So there’s a lot of other factors that, a part of this, that we need to consider.  I echo the comments from the gentleman from Contra Costa.  I think he spoke very eloquently, many of my concerns as well.  But, you know, if you’re going to send a message out there, it better be clear.  If you’re going to send a mass alert, what do people do when they hear that alert?  There’s all kinds of other factors I think that go into this that make those kind of delivery systems very effective.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I understand.  But, however, the university and college system seem to be the prime place where we can actually get that type of learning and communication.  I mean, we all get those freshmen and junior transfer packets, and I think we have the ability to sign off on a lot of things, including the loans that we get from those universities.  One ought to be, you know, public safety standards.  As you enter this university, what happens in an emergency, what to look for, and how our system works.  And you have a captive audience.  This is not—at UCLA, at any given day, there’s 60,000 people so it’s a miniature city.  Same for Fresno State.  I mean, the question is, Given that captive audience, how do we get folks to sign off on a safety policy that ask them to provide their cell phone numbers and it has a good, clear understanding of what the procedures are; if you’re notified, what is a good message and what isn’t?  And ultimately, with our technology, I’m going to ask our cell people this as well when they come up, but, you know, a lot of ours cells now have the ability to connect to the web.  I mean, why don’t we send a link with the message?  It allows them to hit the link right on their phone.  It takes them to a very verifiable, full source that says this is what’s going on immediately so that you can connect directly to your website, particularly in this case, security, so you’re actually able to verify, as been mentioned, you know, whether or not this is a true text or not.
MR. HUERTA:  I agree with everything you’ve said.  There are many, from my perspective and my peers that I’ve spoken to...

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Maldonado—I want to lift a call for Senator Maldonado.  I’m so sorry.  Let’s go ahead and lift the call for Senator Maldonado.  I apologize.

THE SECRETARY:  On the consent calendar, absent members.

Battin?  Maldonado?

SENATOR ABEL MALDONADO:  Aye.

THE SECRETARY:  Maldonado, aye.

SB 440, Florez, absent members.

Battin?  Maldonado?

SENATOR MALDONADO:  Aye.

THE SECRETARY:  Maldonado, aye.

And Item 5, SB 863, by Senator Yee, absent members.

Battin?  Maldonado?
SENATOR MALDONADO: _______.

THE SECRETARY:  Maldonado, aye.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Maldonado.

I apologize.  Mr. Huerta, go ahead.

MR. HUERTA:  You know, from the information we have from Virginia Tech, approximately 170 bullets were fired in nine minutes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. HUERTA:  That’s barely—law enforcement was probably still trying to work through the exact location of where the shots were being fired by the time they were done.  And so from our perspective, we want a system that gives, that blasts out to as many as possible, and gives them a chance.  And essentially that’s all we’re trying to do with this, is give them a chance to not drive into the situation, to make a decision to leave, for those that are closest to it, to be able to shelter, flee, whatever.  And to me, this is what we’re really looking at on our campus, and I know many of my colleagues are the same.  We’re looking at what technology, what resources we have on site, now that we’re not utilizing and we’re attempting to develop them so that they’re functional, and then we’re looking to add…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  But I think these are the budget requests that we’re looking for, these types of systems.  I mean, Chancellor Reed isn’t here.  I know he was at Senator Scott’s committee a week or so ago, but, you know, the question I think this committee would have asked, being charged with the emergency service aspect of this, is you’d say—I’m going to use your words—give them a chance.  And let me give an example.  I think I’ve mention, if I hit a button here somewhere under the dais, if something goes wrong, then I know that our sergeants will be here—and we all know that as well, even in our own district offices in many cases.
To give someone a chance to really tell us that you’re—that the CSU system, for example—let me use that—do you have call boxes on your campus at Fresno State?

MR. HUERTA:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So an emergency, you hit it?

MR. HUERTA:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any of our classrooms have those?

MR. HUERTA:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So giving a chance as a teacher at Virginia Tech looking down the hall and seeing a gunman heading right down the hallway to them is the ability to push a button, I assume, in a classroom in our university campuses that immediately alerts them to a true emergency that allows you to know quicker and faster, how to get there, but more importantly, you know, may allow for trigger mechanisms in many cases.  Maybe it’s an automatic door lock.  Maybe it’s the ability to get, if you will, to you there immediately or a speaker system, a two-way speaker system, allows you to talk straight from the classroom to a centralized place, to say, hit the button; there’s a gunman walking right now towards us and maybe a cell phone at that time isn’t going to be technologically feasible, given all the calls that are coming in.  And we do know our 911 calls are not going to the university; they’re going straight to, or to you, they’re going straight to the Highway Patrol in many cases here.  So any thoughts on wiring our classrooms for these types of—give them a chance?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I love the idea, and I say that because at my previous institution, we actually installed panic buttons underneath all the dry eraser boards.  They didn’t stand out, but all the faculty were trained, that if they have a situation that’s starting to bubble, they need to press that button and offers were trained how to respond.  We’re trying to do the same thing now.

But  you bring up a very important point, and that is, you know, we live in the proactive prevention world and campus environment.  And so a lot of the alert systems are kind of after the fact many times.  And so if we’re talking about developing systems and mandating programs, I know from a system perspective we would like to see something that really talks in the proactive, preventive kind of perspective or something that requires an immediate or allows for an immediate notification of folks—speaker system, panic buttons, and things of that nature.  Keep in mind, because of integrity and doing testing processes, many faculty members tell students to turn off cell phones in the classroom.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point.

MR. JOHNSON:  So, you know, they wouldn’t be getting their messages inside the room when, in many cases, just like in the VTI example, that’s when the messages need to get to people.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s a very good point.

SENATOR DENHAM:  There continues to be a lot of suggestions from just about every member of the, each of the panels that we’ve seen so far, that somehow this committee is looking at mandating technology or mandating some type of procedure.  I don’t think anybody up here is looking to playing Monday morning quarterback, but we are looking to have better procedures in place and coordinated technologies so that in the case of Virginia Tech, when the first murders happened several hours before, was there a response that could have happened?  In the case of Fresno State, knowing that the shooter got away, is there a technology in place that—we want to give you the tools to be able to do your job better.  We want to give you the tools so that in Contra Costa County, if there’s a chemical situation, that they can alert the counties that the chemicals are coming to and not just say, you know, we’ve got the technology out there but we haven’t implemented it over the last couple of decades because of money.  If it’s an issue of money, we want to know that.  If the different systems aren’t talking to each other, we want to know that.  We want to help to provide those tools.  We just need to know basically what are the situations that we can help with.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And I think the Virginia Tech issue is very, can be applied to Fresno State pretty clearly.  I mean, there was an earlier shooting, right?  I mean, everyone—it occurred in a dormitory.  But in this case, somewhat akin to the student housing, I can imagine it was no further than our current student housing here at Fresno State.  And yet, at that time, it was treated as an isolated case and the university remained open.  And I guess the question that you’re facing, obviously the hard one is, if there was a shooting earlier in the evening on the near-campus facility and yet the decision is made to keep Fresno State open, I mean, if somebody is going to be walking through the hall in another hour, that’s not going to look in hindsight like it’s too good of a decision, given the particular venue at Virginia Tech.  I mean, it seems the easier decision is to close campus until we really figure this thing out.

I’m not going to quarterback that, but, I mean is that the kind of decision process that we’re going through right now from a campus safety perspective?

MR. HUERTA:  Well, every incident, every incident is extremely challenging, and closing schools, I know it seems like it’s a simple thing to say, everyone, go home.  It’s not quite that simple.  Each university is unique—the architecture, the layout, how people access to campus.  In the second day of school this year, this school year, August 29, I believe it was, we had a drive-through shooting at Fresno State where a bank robbery, failed attempt, in the City of Clovis, in a subsequent pursuit came across our entire campus, length on our major roadway with shots being fired.  Several of my officers were shot at, at my building.  The Police Department received some rounds.  And it went off campus, almost exactly where this incident is occurring right now, and the suspects fled on foot.  We were able to contain and we were confident they had not crossed over on the campus property.  We closed down 50 percent of our roadway on the campus.  We accessed it from another location, and we functioned without any concern.  The school was open.

SENATOR DENHAM:  In that scenario, if the shooter had entered campus and you knew that class was getting ready to get out in five minutes, would you think that the technology would be helpful to be able to send a message to say, stay in class; we have an emergency situation on campus, stay in class?

MR. HUERTA:  The technology that we have would have assisted us in accomplishing that.  It’s not, it’s not what we desire.  I mean, there’s more to be had.  But given what we have, we would have initiated that process.  We would have also, through our manpower, gone and prioritized the buildings that we wanted to shelter in place first and work that way.  And we probably subsequently would have cancelled school.

SENATOR DENHAM:  But it would be a beneficial technology to be able to first say to those students in the immediate danger, stay in class, and then in a further expanded situation, if they were held up on campus for several hours to be able to tell students, don’t come to campus or…

MR. HUERTA:  Absolutely.

SENATOR DENHAM:  …stay home.

MR. HUERTA:  Absolutely.

SENATOR DENHAM:   And in an in-class situation, if there was a fight or a weapon that was pulled in a class, wouldn’t it be beneficial to be able to have a teacher be able to make that decision to alert the rest of the school or alert the chancellor to say, there’s a gun in our classroom; maybe you want to evacuate, make the decision to evacuate the rest of the building so that it doesn’t go beyond this classroom?

MR. HUERTA:  Yes.  And within the CSU, we have the TI&I project, the Telecommunication Initiative, Infrastructure Initiative.  Many of our schools have been and all schools will eventually be wired with the new fiberoptics.  Ours was recently finished, and now we’re topping it off.  And from acquiring this recent technology, we learned that a new phone could be purchased and put on a desk and we can now use the phone as a speaker system.  It would interrupt the calls.  And from one point, we can make a notification to all our building safety coordinators.  So we are exploring what we have and what we can do with what we have when we know there is more.  For us to say right now, go buy all of this, at least from my campus’s perspective, I don’t know that I can say that. 

SENATOR DENHAM:  No, and I don’t think that’s what we’re advocating for.  I think that’s part of our frustration is, every time there’s money available, every time there’s some type of new grant, those applicants say, great, we’ve got money; let’s go buy this.  But Contra Costa County is very different from the surrounding counties, and, you know, you end up with different technologies and you can’t communicate.

We’d much rather see a comprehensive program that, if there is a situation in CSU, that you can alert all campuses or you can pick a campus or you can pick a classroom and make sure that we are using technology effectively to best accommodate whatever the situation is.  But we don’t want to see money thrown at a problem where Fresno State is doing something different from Davis.  And if there’s a same situation at both campuses, you can’t tell both campuses.

MR. JOHNSON:  I just wanted to comment just a second, Senator, on the interoperability part of this, what your comments, Senator, reminded me of, and give my colleagues a chance to speak because I know that UC Davis is doing some wonderful things up there.  You know, we talk about local agencies, and I think, as we move down this road, we need to also be concerned that local agencies mean different local agencies.  So sometimes we say local agencies.  I mean, once we get word to the county, then everyone, we’re assuming, everyone else is going to know about it.  And we don’t have interoperable communication amongst local agencies.  So the state can communicate the area operation center.  Most of the time the area operation center can communicate with local agencies within their county.  But in many cases, local agencies cannot communicate together.  And many times, local areas, EOC, Emergency Operation Center, isn’t up and operating in order to send messages back and forth.  So we still have this issue of interoperable communication.  And in our opinion, and probably the opinion of the CSU, it’s far more important because it gives to the actual response.  And as we all know, in Columbine and most of the other cases is that those initial few seconds or minutes are absolutely crucial.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Absolutely.  And I guess my concern is, I will view a failure of the legislature if we cannot provide the leadership across the state to be able to make sure that we don’t have these different holdups throughout the various systems, that here we’re going to possibly have a brand new technology that now we can communicate with the public instantaneously.  But before we can send a message to the public, we’re going to have the phone call game go from local to state, back down to different local agencies throughout the state and hopefully within minutes or hours, that we coordinate it with everyone on a public safety so that message is out there to our first responders so they can respond to the situation.  But had we used the instant-messaging to the public, we may have saved lives.

MR. HUERTA:  We’re talking about simultaneously getting that information out to two groups, and we recognize that.  I think we’re pretty good at it in law enforcement, through our dispatch systems, through our years of experience in managing crisis. We’ve become pretty good at prioritizing that information.  I absolutely agree with you.  I think we need to do both, simultaneously, though.  And through this technology, if it’s a simple process where we have policies and procedures in place, explanations that accompany that, as a matter of signing on or becoming part of that system, each user, receiver of the information, would know what it means.  That’s a very important part of it, and I think it can be done.  As a matter of fact, I know it can be done without too much problem, but it has to be almost simultaneously, and you want your officers to engage a threat as fast as you can engage it.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Absolutely.

MR. HUERTA:  And you want those people that are in the area of the threat to know to move, stay, or something, at least know the threat’s there.   You know, in a college environment, such as ours, there’s, you know, in some cases, hundreds of buildings, a gunshot report from a handgun may not be heard, you know, a hundred yards away.  If the buildings deflect the sound, you wouldn’t even know it was going on.  And so it is an unusual environment, so you can’t count on those traditional—your senses picking up those things that we would normally think.  We shoot guns, loud ?? report.  We assume everyone would hear it on a campus.  Nothing can be more untrue in a college environment.

SENATOR DENHAM:  That’s a case in point of why we should be able to have that technology so that you can alert those students in other buildings so they don’t come in harm’s way.  If you know you’ve got a situation isolated to one classroom, keep everybody else away from that classroom.  Or if they’re in one building, keep everybody away from that one building.  What we don’t want to have happen is, because, you know, it took so long for the first responders, that you now have innocent bystanders walking into an unsafe situation because as government we failed to operate quickly.

MR. HUERTA:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go hear some of the other panel members as well.  Thank you for joining us.
MR. CRAIG ZACHLOD:  Yes.  If it’s all right, I would like to go because I have a formation meeting for statewide task force at 1 o’clock.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And your system, please, and your name.

MR. ZACHLOD:  Yes.  My name is Craig Zachlod.  I’m currently a coordinator on behalf of the Chancellor’s Office for the 109 community colleges in Emergency Management.  I have worked at Sonoma State University, and I’ve been director of K-12 USDOE grants for the past four years implementing emergency procedures in five counties, five Northern California counties, and I also serve on a standards committee, national standards committee, for best practices for K-12.

So what we’re doing at the community colleges is assessing where we are.  And at this point, we have created a taskforce, state taskforce, which is, the first meeting is today.  We are in the process of evaluating surveys that were conducted over the past few months to find out where colleges are as far as their preparedness, and we are investigating what their alert systems are, as well as other things.  I think it’s very important, while I really appreciate the quality of the questions and the issues and concerns that you’ve raised today—and I wish we had a lot more time to address them specifically—I think it’s very important that while we’re concerned immediately about the communication systems, that we need to be totally aware of the need for overall preparedness on the college campuses.  If you alerted everybody on the campus or everybody in this room immediately about an emergency, what would you do?  Unless you have the training and the background that agrees with your emergency operations…

SENATOR DENHAM:  We’re not advocating for that.

MR. ZACHLOD:  Okay.

SENATOR DENHAM:  We’re not advocating that we immediately send out a message to anybody.  I think what we’re trying to get to is a point of, What are the tools that you need to be able to send out the message that you feel is appropriate for each of these individual situations?  I mean, there are many, many different emergency situations out there.  We want to make sure that you’ve got the tools to be able to address that.

Now if somebody makes a bad decision, I’m confident we will probably address that in the future.  But right now, we want to make sure that you at last have the tools to make the decision.

MR. ZACHLOD:  I don’t know if you all have investigated this, but there was an Emergency Technology Alert System developed by the University of Maryland called Alertus which is basically a text-messaging and warning system that can go on any—it’s a wireless system.  It can go on any classroom wall or along any hallway and it starts to flash when an emergency message is sent out.  But that’s one of the technologies that I’m familiar with that you may want to take a look at that.  So I’ll be happy to answer any questions about the USDOE K-12 or about what we’re doing in the community colleges.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you agree that we’ve been slow to adopt emergency communications and somehow we’ve used students that’s self-sufficient, capable to fend for themselves?
MR. ZACHLOD:  I think there hasn’t been a focus…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that a loaded question?

MR. ZACHLOD:  I think there hasn’t been a focus in the educational community to deal with preparedness in emergency management which includes that communication system.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. ZACHLOD:  While police on campus and fire and local agencies have capabilities, the schools in general—at least in my experience with the K-12 and I think, to some extent, community colleges—have been left out of that network of sitting at the table with the first responder groups and actually having a primary role in defining what their problems are.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you expect existing protocols to change after Virginia  Tech?  Obviously, we’re having a task force meeting…
MR. ZACHLOD:  Well, I would hope so.  I think, with the support and interest of your committee and other groups, there would be a lot of important issues raised that need to be addressed concerning financing and support of issues that need to be implemented on the campuses.  Certainly we have a grant from the Department of Homeland Security work with the 109 community colleges.  I work part time, and we’ve got 109 colleges, the biggest educational institution in the world out there, to prepare.
The surveys that we received back indicate that there is a great discrepancy in the levels of preparedness and specifically around communication issues as well as others.  So those are all things that we have to address, and those things are going to take money and time.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Okay.  How many campuses have law enforcement on campus?

MR. ZACHLOD:  Well, Nate would know better than I do about—I would think  that probably every campus has some…

SENATOR DENHAM:  Community colleges.
MR. ZACHLOD ??:  I don’t know the answer to that question.

MR. JOHNSON:  My understanding is, not all community colleges have it. I think there’s a section under 831.31 of the Penal Code.  But I believe it’s still a presidential decision whether or not they want to invoke peace officer powers on local campuses.  From the CSU perspective, we have 23 campuses.  California Maritime had just signed on their first chief of police.  They’re the last campus to integrate a police department.  So all 23 campuses now have police agencies that include over 450 sworn officers for the 45-or-so-thousand of faculty and 415,000 students.

SENATOR DENHAM:  In the case of CSU, can each of those different campuses communicate with each other?

MR. JOHNSON:  No.  For a while we utilized Claymarks, which was a state-run agency—I think it started through CHP and state police agency.  I believe that infrastructure is still in place, although seldom used.  Largely because many local jurisdictions have gone to 800 megahertz and a lot of the campuses were not included in that, again, not at the table when those decisions were made and some of those campuses sort of ran behind those local jurisdictions to try to change frequency so they can communicate, locally anticipating that the majority of the problems will be local, and therefore we sort of got disjointed from a state CSU perspective in terms of communicating together.

I will like to say, though, in Homeland Security and OES credit, they did give us some dollars just recently.  We are taking those dollars and looking at interoperable communication throughout the state.  Most of us have now purchased Skymar’s ?? satellite systems which we have in all of our EOC centers, and that’s just so we can communicate directly with state OES department so we are on our way.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Anyone else who would like to add some insight?

MS. VALERIE LUCUS:  Sure.  Oh, that works. My name is Valerie Lucas, and I am the emergency manager at UC Davis.  And I have with me today Annette Spicuzza who’s the chief of police over at UC Davis, and I am here on behalf of the UC, so what I’d like to do is tell you a little bit about what the UC system has in place for all of this, and then I can certainly talk about what’s going on at UC Davis if you’d like me to do that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MS. LUCAS:  First of all, on a policy level, the UC has had a policy on—it’s called the Policy on Safeguard Security and Emergency Management, and I have a copy that I’d be happy to leave, if you want to see it.  And we’ve had that in place for ten years, and that says that each chancellor appoints a campus representative to oversee the program.  It is—in addition to that, about two years ago, the campus ___ a hazard vulnerability assessment, and this was the one that President Dymes ?? talked about when he spoke to the Education Committee last week.  And we—each campus did it.  There’s a survey of what all of the hazards were.  It looked at both natural and human-caused hazards, and I have a copy of that.  Also, if you would like to have a copy of it so you can kind of see where things rated on the scale, we do an annual assessment of our emergency management programs, and it is collected from all of the schools.  It is a self-assessment at this point, and we just recently started using standards to assess those with which were our national standards for Emergency Management and Business Continuity programs.  So those are all out there.
In terms of notification, I think I would repeat what Art said when he was up here, which was that they have to be redundant; they have to be integrated; they have to be able to fit the campus that they go with.  All of the UC campuses have the ability to do mass emails, broadcast voicemails; they have web pages, hotlines, portable or mobile outdoor PA systems.  Some of the campuses go beyond hat.  Some of them have siren systems; some of them have text-messaging systems for students and faculty.  They have auto dialers; they have traffic-message boards.  But even before Virginia Tech, we were collaborating on a lot of things that we wanted to see to try to make this better.  So there are a lot of things that we’re working on—upgrading cell phone coverage on the campus, for example, which I don’t think it’s something that we talked about a whole lot today.  There are parts on our campus where you actually can’t get cell phone coverage because the carriers don’t have coverage in that area.  It’s real difficult to get coverage inside a building.  I don’t know how many of you guys have any signals right now, but I don’t have any.  And that is made even worse now because all of these new energy-efficient buildings, you know, are putting in those glass panes with the little specs in them, which are really great for keeping temperature in and out, and they also keep the cell phone signals in and out, so that doesn’t work.  So that’s kind of it, I guess.

We’ve done a lot.  There’s a lot more that we can certainly do.  One of the things that President Dymes did last week was appoint a security taskforce with a timeline of 60 days to get back to him with information about a variety of subjects, but one of them is about notification.
And if you ask me what I would like to have, what would help me, I don’t think another piece of technology would help me.  I think what I would really like to have is more money to do public information and education campaigns on the campus so that if I had things that I could notify them of that people would know what to do to train the administration, to train my emergency response teams, and that kind of thing, and that would probably be way more valuable than any kind of new toy.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. LUCAS:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about a toy in your classroom that allows professors to push a button if there’s something bad going on.  Is that a toy?

MS. LUCAS:  I think that that is probably something that is very well worth considering, and it’s not something that any of the UCs really have right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. LUCAS:  And I’m going to throw it into the mix the next time I talk to all of my colleagues on the other campuses.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do your students do—do your students know how to evacuate campuses?

MS. LUCAS:  Well, I think that’s a good question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just laying out a laundry list of great things.  I’m just pointing out two just off the top of my head sitting here.

MS. LUCAS:  Ask me if we have the ability to notify all of the students on campus immediately, and the answer is no.  The best that we can do is send out emails, and it takes two or three hours for all of those to get through a system.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Wouldn’t you think it would be helpful…

MS. LUCAS:  Outside of that…

SENATOR DENHAM:  …to have a toy they can do it instantaneously?

MS. LUCAS:  Outside of that, outside of that, we have PA systems that we can—that are mobile PA systems, that we an run with.  UC Davis…

SENATOR DENHAM: Wait a minute.  Let me stop you there for a sec.

MS. LUCAS:  No.  Let me tell you about…

SENATOR DENHAM:  No. Let me stop you there for a second.  If you have a PA system in an emergency situation that we just talked about, if you have somebody that’s running around campus with a gun, if you have a PA system, do you want to let him know that you’re alerting the students?

MS. LUCAS:  Let me tell you about what UC Davis is doing.  Eight or nine months ago, we entered into a process to look for an automatic notification system, and we were looking specifically for something that would let us communicate on a day-to-day basis, as well as during an emergency and all of the ways that you’ve talked about today.  And we went through the RFP process.   We selected people.  We actually have vendor demonstrations set up next week.  I invited all of the other UC campuses to cover and be part of that.  I invited the CSU campuses to come and be part of that.  And if we can get something…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many came?

MS. LUCAS:  …like that, that would answer that question.  That would let…
SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many came?  You invited a lot of…

MS. LUCAS:  Oh.  They’re set up for next week.  And at this point, we have 70 people signed up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, this next week?
MS. LUCAS:  This next week.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Seventy people, and that would be community colleges; we have 109.

MS. LUCAS:  Yes.  You know…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have CSUs.  How many CSUs do we have now?  Twenty three.

MS. LUCAS:  Twenty-three.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And UCs?

MS. LUCAS:  Fifteen, 18, if you count the national labs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So was that a quarter of the people that could and should go are going?

MS. LUCAS:  These are just vendor demos to look at the people that have these systems to see whether or not one of them is applicable to us.  One of the reasons that everybody’s there is because, if it looks like that would work on those systems, there’s the power of numbers in being able to purchase a system for multiple places instead of just one.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. LUCAS:  But the bottom line…

SENATOR DENHAM:  Our goal is to find something that will do multiple places, but something that will address our communication difficulties statewide.  And I actually take offense to, you know, the notion that we are looking to fund new toys because that’s the last thing that I would advocate for them.  It’s the last thing that I would fund, but I would vote to fund a coordinated effort throughout the state, throughout the nation, throughout regionally, to make sure that if there’s an emergency in Contra Costa County, that we don’t lose lives in other counties or to make sure, in Fresno State’s situation, that if we have a gunman running around campus, I want to make sure we provide the tools so that we don’t lose additional life.  This is a very serious matter, and I realize that different agencies have taken money and went out and bought their own system.  And what our goal here is to make sure that we don’t waste any more money, that we actually provide technologies that everybody gets on the same page.  And if you’ve only got 70 people coming to your event when you’ve got many different technologies out there, whether it’s your looking at technology or whether it’s our committee looking at technology or OES looking at technology, we need to get all hands on deck.  We need to make sure that all campuses are involved because the last thing that we want to do is see UC Davis buy a toy.  We want to see the system, have a system that not only works the entire…

MS. LUCAS:  Excuse me.

SENATOR DENHAM:  No, no.  You’re interrupting me now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  The way it normally works here is that we ask the questions and you can answer.  And if you have questions for us, let me know.

Okay.  Go ahead, Senator Denham.

SENATOR DENHAM:  We want to make sure that the entire system has an adequate way of communicating, not only within each campus but across the entire system and with other systems and with local agencies, with counties; and then OES, if there’s a state emergency, can contact not only city police departments and sheriffs and fire departments and ambulances but all emergency services, including all of those on our different campuses.  So we have the task that we’ve taken upon ourselves to take a look at how do we communicate on campuses.  In the situation at Virginia Tech and Fresno and, heaven forbid, others that could happen in the future, but also, local government and counties and regionally, and making sure that—I mean, as Senator Florez has discussed not only in this hearing but many hearings in the past are inadequacies statewide to make sure that we’re not funding toys.  They’re actually funding good communication devices that are put in the hands of local professionals to make the decision, whether you want to alert the campus or not, whether you want to alert certain classes, whether you want to alert a large region of people, you have the tools to save lives.  So we take this very serious.

MS. LUCAS:  Excuse me.  I think your question was, If there was something that you could do to help, if there was something that this committee could do to help, that the legislature could do to help, that that’s what you wanted to know, and my answer was that, if you really want to help but I need money, is, what I need is money for public education and training and not necessarily money for a new electronic device.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MR. ZACHLOD:  May I make just one other comment there?  I think one of the things that would help us all is, in the survey that we did, only 21 percent of the responding college presidents and other officials indicated that emergency preparedness was a high priority.  And I think part of the problem is that we do not have an educated executive or government agencies who are aware of the issues, the real issues, of emergency management on these campuses.  And so, as we look to funding, we would like to look to funding education for executive leadership at the community level, at the university level, and at the governmental level because that will help to close this communication gap, for starters.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Any other comments from the panel?
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Has Annette spoken?

MS. ANNETTE SPICUZZA:  Good afternoon now.  (Laughter)  My name’s Annette Spicuzza.  And as introduced before, I’m the chief of police at UC Davis.  I’ve been sitting here since the beginning, and I think everyone has made very good and very valid points.  If we could wave the magic wand and find the one device or the many devices that would help us serve our communities, and my community is definitely a small city, as I’m sure David’s is, as well as all the other UCs, as well as some of the other CSUs.  You know, when everyone’s there on my campus—I’m pushing 50,000—and I’m nine square miles.  So I have a lot of property; I have a lot of buildings; I have a lot of research.  So, you know, it is looking for the most effective way and/or many ways to service our communities.  Money is definitely something that is going to be needed to put all of this into place.  I don’t have the dollar number for any of you here, but I know that when we look at grants, Homeland Security, very many times we’re left out of the loop because of our situation.  The grant that was spoken about earlier, if I’m not mistaken, is only for K-12.  So I can’t even apply for that money, and I am more than happy to apply for my fair share, as everybody else is, and I have in my past, in my 22 years of law enforcement.  So those are the pieces that are not quite consistent throughout the world at this table, for all of us, besides community colleges.  I know this legislature now, just trying to get those officers the same rights if they’re shot in the line of duty because they’re not seen the same way, and that’s off on another path, but that’s what I want you to understand is that we are looked at very differently and we are treated very differently, and I don’t know if it was just—I’m very new to the state, but I don’t know if it was just oversight, failure to include in this legislature, in the legislation.  I couldn’t tell you why things happened the way they’ve happened in the past, but I know where we’re sitting today, unfortunately, money will drive this, as well as good planning and good communication amongst all the members and the partnering here.  But the bottom line truly is just to be able to communicate and to keep our community safe as best we can.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  The question I have is, Who puts all of this together, the request necessary to coordinate, and do all of the things that you folks are talking about?  I mean, who do I as a legislator look to, to say, the system—UC, CSU…

MS. SPICUZZA:  Well, I’m sorry.  But I can tell you that we belong, David and I belong, to an organization, the California College and University Police Chiefs Association, CCUPCA, the acronym, and we meet annually, as well as quarterly, and that would be an organization, I think, if you needed information, and/or assistance, because we do it—we have members from community colleges—CSU, UCs, privates—the private universities are there as well.  And so that’s an organization that you may want to touch or you may want us to be more involved with you in that sense.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I guess my question is more direct in terms of what’s, what’s the number.

MS. SPICUZZA:  The number.  I’m not…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s the cost of all of this upgrade for our university and college?

MS. SPICUZZA:  Well, I don’t know if I can speak for the system.  I’m not the budget person, but I can—it’s going to be in the millions, for sure, multi-millions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we have a $101 billion budget, so we have projects here that are in the millions.  So is it in the hundreds of millions, or is this in the millions?

MR. ZACHLOD:  Hundreds of millions, I would think, well, what you want to do with it.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about state of the art?  What does that look like?  State-of-the-art system.
MS. SPICUZZA:  Communication system?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Whatever it takes to make our campuses safer.

MS. SPICUZZA:  Well, the automatic—this notification, I don’t know—we can’t even ask what they cost.
MR. ZACHLOD:  Can we follow up on that question and get back to you with some ideas about it?
MS. SPICUZZA:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, that’s what we’re looking for.

MR. ZACHLOD:  Okay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s exactly what we’re looking for.

MS. SPICUZZA:  That would be good.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So beyond, you know, us—we don’t need to call you.  We’ve had two hearings now in the legislature, and one more hearing isn’t going to provide—I mean I think what we’re looking for is an itemization, a budget plan, the thought process that gives us some path to fund, from a legislative perspective, because without that path, then I think, you know—unless you want us to put a bill in that says, you shall do and you shall pay for, which we do nine times out of ten around here, I mean, I’m really interested in trying to get your plan.  So maybe you can go back and think about that plan, as you go back to your taskforce and other places, coordination, the one that you use, because that is going to be the question of the day as we concur.

MS. SPICUZZA:  That makes sense.

MR. JOHNSON:  Can I make a couple of comments?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. JOHNSON:  One, just getting back to the local issue and being kind of left out of the communication loop and out of a lot of these regulations, I think that as the committee moves forward and any recommendations come about, I think it would be very beneficial for all of us in the educational area if we were included in many of those provisions, and often we are not.  Sometimes the state doesn’t understand that, you know, we exist within the local entity and have to collaborate with local agencies.  But the local agencies are very clear that we’re state entities.  And so many times when those funding sources are there, they tend to kind of push us out.  Northern California, I can tell you we have a great working relationship in our area.  But I tell you, some of our southern campuses have a hard time getting through those local ____ areas and being a participant in that.
The only other comment I would like to make goes back to your earlier comment about emergency plans.  I do want to say that our emergency plans are reviewed on an annual basis; they’re distributed on an annual basis to all the key emergency operation team members, and I’m a little concerned about having a state entity review and maybe even somewhere down the road approve campus plans when maybe these plans are worked out with integrated, with local plans as well.  Eight of our campuses just went through an emergency disaster audit.  They’ve all faired very well.  My campus at Sonoma State was one of those campuses.  We also did very well, we’re proud to say.  But every three years, another eight or so campuses are selected for that, so we do have internal mechanisms and a review and audit process to look at emergency operations and response plans.

MS. LUCAS:  Can I add onto that, the two things that he said is that it’s really true that the cooperation with the local entity, it really varies and it’s really great up here.  I have a great relationship with the Yolo County op area, but I know that there are campuses in the southern part of the state that don’t have as good a relationship with their folks.  And I would also agree with him that we have a lot of internal processes to look at all of our emergency plans and procedures, and the annual report that we do is one of those.  And so I’m not sure that that step of having to send them to OES to review is really going to be beneficial to anybody.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You want the state’s money, but you want us to just leave you alone?

MS. LUCAS:  No.  I think it’s a step, if we’ve already got our internal process to do it, maybe what the state ought to do is look at what our internal process is and not necessarily go to each campus and make them go through it twice.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  Okay.

Are any of you on the state system for notification that was mentioned earlier by Mr. Renteria?

MS. SPICUZZA:  I believe we are.  I’m going to go back and double check—Dialogic, I think  you call it?

MS. LUCAS:  Yes.

MS. SPICUZZA:  Yes, I believe we are, but I’m going to go back and double check.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I was hoping that should be an easy answer.  Do we not know?  There seems to be some hesitancy in that, a bit concerning.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Chief Spicuzza…

MS. SPICUZZA:  Yes, sir?

SENATOR DENHAM:  Did I pronounce that correctly?

MS. SPICUZZA:  You did.  Very good, thank you.

SENATOR DENHAM:  CCUPCA?

MS. SPICUZZA:  That’s correct.  California College and University Police Chief Association.

SENATOR DENHAM:  The meetings that you have, when you discuss technology, do you all agree on the same technology?
MS. SPICUZZA:  Well, we just had our annual conference just about, maybe two or three week—maybe a month ago or so.  And we had some from OES there, I believe, as well as other technology vendors.  And really, no one has ever said we should all be using the same one thing.  We’re looking at what would best suit our campuses and our worlds.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Would it not suit all campuses if you had, whether it was one type of technology or not, if it was some type of technology you could coordinate between all of them?

MS. SPICUZZA:  That would be very nice.  I don’t know if that’s absolutely necessary but I think that’s—I mean, I just want to be able to speak to my neighbors.  I want to be able to reach out and touch my neighbors.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And I would agree, and I would think there would be, from what we have seen, some type of technology that would allow all first responders to be able to communicate either regionally or across the state, or maybe there is a situation where all of the agencies just need to talk to each other because of a certain situation.  Maybe there’s a threat to many campuses all at once.

MS. SPICUZZA:  Sure, sure, and that would be absolutely wonderful if we could do that.  That would be great.

MR. JOHNSON:  We are doing that now with the Skymar ?? satellite technology, and all of the key EOC team members have to carry satellites with them.  I do have a satellite phone in my briefcase.  I carry it everywhere I go.  So there is a network.  I know the CSU is actually putting it in place now—I think we just have maybe a third of our campuses who are purchasing that system now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you have a cell, satellite phone?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And our governor doesn’t.  Okay.  Interesting.  (Laughter)  You’re funded by the state?
MR. JOHNSON:  Of course we are.  (Laughter)

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Interesting.  Okay.  Just a sidebar.

Yes>

MS. LUCAS:  Can—oh, sorry.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  I’ve been sitting here a long time listening.  And I want to—first, I want to say that I think Senator Florez and Senator Denham has done an outstanding job.  Some of the questions you guys have been asking, I think, has been great.  I also look at the fact that we’ve been sitting here.  I’m listening and listening.  And everybody wants to take care of their own business, but here’s the facts.  The fact says, we’ve heard these words three times, many, many times—money, time, and knowledge—money, time, and knowledge.  And I’ve sat here and listened, and what we’re saying, without question, three things—or more than three things—the money, time, and knowledge—but whatever it takes to make the colleges and high school campuses safe.  That’s what you’ve got to ask for, whatever it takes to make them safe.  You couldn’t say it any better way than that.  Let’s keep over and over and over again because I think what happened at Virginia Tech, I think that’s a joke.  That was a total joke when all those people got killed, and I think I want to go into what could have been done.  You know, if somebody gets shot in this room—what time is it now?  Let’s say it’s 12:30 somebody gets shot.  And then at 2 o’clock, somebody comes in, we’re all still sitting here and they shoot us again, it don’t make sense.  It doesn’t make any sense.  And you’ve said it very clear, whatever you need—money, time, knowledge—whatever you need to get your campuses straight, present it.

MS. LUCAS:  Can I ask a question?  If we take your word to that, is that what you’re asking us to do, is come back with proposals with what it would take to make the campuses safe?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s exactly—let me just…


MS. LUCAS:  Do we have to depend on technology, or can we put anything in there?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I think the goal is, as Senator Vincent said, anything that makes our campus safer, absolutely.  Let me tell you your challenge.  Your challenge, just an opinion, your challenge isn’t in the legislature.  Your challenge is getting it through the maze of your chancellors and UC presidents and everyone else that are going to somehow compare this to other expenditures in the budget.  So if any of you would like to send me an offhand email, that is in many cases more preferable.  And I will not share that with anyone, including our director of Finance.  But I think it helps us to understand as a committee what the true challenges are, and it helps us to ask the right questions to your superiors that gets us the right answer and, more importantly, the right amount.  And I’m just giving you, from a guy that sat around here for 20 years, you know, that’s the way it works, and we rarely hear—you know, you may say, let’s all get our police association to come up with a budget.  I guarantee you in a day from now you’ll be called and say, oh, no, you’re not because we have a lot of other competing interests from the University of California, at CSU and community college.  And let’s see that plan before he’s done anything to that committee.  So I can guarantee you, we’ll never see your plan.

MS. LUCAS:  Yes, and that’s kind of what I was…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If you come up with it, we won’t see it.  I guarantee you that.  We will see it directly from you, the police association, I’d be shocked and I’d love to be shocked, but I doubt if that will ever happen.  So good luck.


Then let’s go to the next panel.  Yes.

 MR. ZACHLOD:  So could we serve as a self-appointed committee to come up with some issues relating…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You say you’re employed part time?  (Laughter)  Okay.  Yes, absolutely.

MR. ZACHLOD:  Thanks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Chief, do you have anything else you’d like to add?  Okay.  The suspect is in custody?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.

MS. LUCAS:  Oh, good.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.

MS. SPICUZZA:  Thank you for your time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.

Okay.  Let’s get to our providers, the telecommunication industry.  And Senator Denham and I are sorry we ate into your lunch hour.   You look very wary and very tired, so we’ll try to keep our questions to the minimum.  But I do know that you’ll miss the lunch crowd, which means that at 1 o’clock you’ll absolutely walk in and get any table you want.  So thank you for joining us today.

The bottom-line question for the panel—and you can—I’m not really looking for testimony.  But, you know, in your opinion, what’s the best way to get the word out in the case of an emergency using the technology?

MR. STEVE CARLSON:  Well, Senator, if I might start out, Steve Carlson with CTIA-The Wireless Association, maybe explaining to you what steps are currently in process…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Please, please.
MR. CARLSON:  …that they’re going to incorporate wireless and other new technologies into the Emergency Alert System.  Direct Broadcast Satellite Television is another that is not engaged right now in that, and that’s what the WARN Act, the Warning, Alert, and Response Network Act, that passed Congress in October has put in place a taskforce at the FCC to bring stakeholders together to determine what the appropriate standards and protocols are for wireless and other new technologies to be included in the overall Emergency Alert System.  It came about as a result of Katrina, directly as a result of Katrina, but it had been in place for a while.  So we’re very much involved with that, as are a lot of the local first responders.  OES is involved with that as well.
And one important thing, at least from the wireless perspective, is that we come up with a way to do this the same way everywhere in all 50 states.  There are national companies, natural providers and their systems, and not just for the company’s perspective but obviously for first responder’s perspective, it’s important that that be the case.  And their recommendations are due back, we believe, sometime in the latter part of summer of next year to be able to take that.

Similarly, as you’ve heard, the PUC has a proceeding going on where it’s looking at emergency backup systems; it’s looking at the other elements of the technology of emergency alert, and I don’t think the Lt. Governor mentioned that.  We’re very much involved in that process.

Finally--and I think this speaks to a lot of the issues that Senator Denham was raising—there’s something in place right now in state law that if funded can provide the, I think the kind of human and other infrastructure to kind of pull all the diverse elements together to try to figure this out.  Assemblywoman Pavley had a bill last year—it was AB 2231—and it puts in place, again, if funded, a taskforce with really unlimited and who can be on it, you know, university campuses aren’t specifically mentioned to it but the director has the ability to do that.  And when we see that as the ability for us to be ready in California for when the feds come up with the standards and the protocols and how this is all done, for we to be ready to do the things that you guys want to do, not just on the campuses but everywhere else, I think the appropriation is $150,000 a year for two consecutive budget years, and it’s supposed to be out of some federal trust fund monies that come to the state.  Homeland Security monies that come to this state, I am not certain what the status of that is.  But it seems to me that you’ve already got something in place.  You don’t have to invent something to begin pulling all the stuff together, and you heard from the other witnesses.  There’s an awful lot going on.  Not a lot of it is necessarily coordinated, and not a lot of those people are talking to each other.  This looks like at least it’s a mechanism for that to be able to happen, so we would urge you to take a look at that as maybe the baseline to be able to pull the groups together to try to work on this.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Real quickly.  Are there technologies out there to pull all of the—right now we’ve, because we’ve had competing interests for so long, we’ve got different technology being used by several different agencies.  Is there one technology that will bridge the gap between all of them so that—for example, if you’re on a cell phone, you know, it doesn’t matter if you’re AT&T or Verizon or a variety of other carriers, you can still send a text message to all of them.  Can we do that with the law enforcement first-responder’s technology?
MR. CARLSON:  Well, I’m not certain of that answer, Senator.  I mean, we’re not the engineering types here.  Text messaging today seems to be the best currently available technology, but we also understand that these folks at the FCC are looking at a lot of technologies that there may be something better in 12 or 18 months, better than that.  So I think one of the judgments is, Do you adopt something that’s today, or do you look for something that might be even better in the future?  And I think that’s among the things that they’re looking at right now.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MS. NATASHA RABE:  …from the NTI Group, Inc..  We have a series of services that are made specifically for government entities relative to delivering ubiquitous messages, no matter what the platform, whether it’s going to a cell phone via text message and email or in the person’s own voice, to their cell phone, even their email, as well as TTY/TDD receiving devices for the hearing and speech impaired.  I recommend the panel to make sure that they’re included in these conversations.  There obviously are various…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Identify yourself.


MS. RABE:  Natasha Rabe.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MS. RABE:  There are various levels of communication and, you know, you touched on things that are even more important, which is how do you get the information out to the first responder.  Buttons are a really good idea.  Something in the classroom is a very good idea because college campuses are incredibly decentralized.  We have a hard time with policy.  I will tell you of ten campuses here in California that are currently on our system.  Only three have sent a call.  They’ve had to service some of them for six months because they’re trying to figure out the policies, or they feel like maybe their database isn’t up to date.  Well, the only way to get it going is to be utilizing the service.


So while we are participating in those WARN Act conversations, as well as some other things that the FCC have going on, as are all of these committee members here—and it’s crucial that that occur—it’s also important that we start utilizing the services that we do have available to us today, many of which are already implemented on college campuses.


MR. BILL DIVINE:  Do I have it on?  Good afternoon.  Bill Divine with AT&T.  Thanks for the opportunity to be here.

As you can tell from all of the testimony you’ve received today, there’s an enormous amount of work and effort going into Emergency Alert Systems.  And as Steve has noted, the federal government and the state government is already engaged in a whole series of actions to improve systems that we currently have in place.  There’s an enormous amount of leadership coming out of this committee, clearly in light of this hearing and previous work you’ve done, as well as the governor and the Lt. Governor’s Office, as well as the carriers in the industry and the vendors as well.  I don’t want to repeat all the witnesses, the points that have been made today.  But I do want to comment on a couple of issues.  And if we can add some clarity, I hope we can be helpful.


Current systems—and we’re talking about wireless systems at the moment—the current systems, like the email system, do not support reliable transmission and receipt of high volumes of emergency text transmissions via the short-message service system that we have in place today.  It wasn’t designed—those systems weren’t designed to do that, and they can’t handle the kinds of volume that we’re talking about, particularly when we’re looking at campuses of 50, 60 or more thousands of students and professors and others.  Those systems we have in place were designed for casual communication, for email and for text messaging that is done across a wider spectrum and has some delay in the delivery occasionally.  We have to be very concerned about protecting the networks against serious congestion so that people are actually denied access to information or denied the opportunity to share information.

In addition, what happens is, when you do send out, if you have a circumstance where you’re sending out emergency text message, large groups of people will start sharing those messages among themselves, among their loved ones, maybe even themselves getting on the 911 system.  And so you have this bloom, if you will, of enormous rush, again, creating potential for network congestion and creating potential for actually limiting the amount of information that is available to consumers.


The development of a more robust Emergency Alert Messaging System is what the federal government is currently working on through the WARN Act.  And as we look at that act, which, by the way, was adopted in October of 2006, that legislation has created a methodology and committee, if you will, within the FCC.  AT&T serves on that committee.  But a wide variety of vendors, developers, manufacturers, state, local, and federal government participate; technical experts are all involved in the process of trying to look at and develop a new system that could be developed universally, be fully integrated, and operate on a national and a state and a local level.  AT&T, as a member of that advisory committee, happens to chair the communications technology group, so a great deal of energy and investment is going in to make that a success.


Now earlier today, there was a great deal of concern about the timeline, and we share that concern because you never know when the next emergency is going to occur.  In fact, interesting that the Congress shared that concern as well when they crafted the act.  They’re requiring that the FCC report back by October 12 of 2007.  In addition, they have after that, the FCC will have 180 days to complete a report and an order, followed by modifications of the new system they’re recommending, and an additional 120 days to take in comments and make whatever modifications are needed.  This is a rather rapid approach for the FCC as well as for the Congress, and we’re encouraged because it has created an environment where all the vendors and local governments and state governments are motivated to produce results.  We’re on a parallel track here in California, in light of the legislation that Lloyd Levine has introduced that I believe Commissioner Rachelle Chong and the other commissioners have said to the committee, in terms of information and schedule that’s going on at the PUC, so there’s great work occurring there and a good focus with a hard timeline for results for both our state and the country.

So let me end by just saying we appreciate the opportunity to be here; we appreciate the opportunity to share information.  We will be aggressive and active in working through these issues and would be delighted to continue to work with the committee.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.

SENATOR DENHAM:  A quick question for Mr. Divine.  If government, the first responders were to use the texting technology, could we send out a message by city or by county or by region or even across the state if the governor wanted to send out a message to all fire departments across the state, is the technology available to be able to do that?


MR. DIVINE:  Yes.  Whether you’re talking about a text or an email or an automated call, there are technologies that do that, and the networks can manage that in a managed way, if you will.  If you’re talking about hitting—I think one of the professors earlier was commenting on an 50,000-citizen campus in a nine-mile square, that might be more difficult.  We worry about network congestion.  But if you’re talking about selected emergency responders, I suspect they already do that today.  But the technology is there to do that.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.


MS. JOYCE MASAMITSU:  Thank you, Chairman, and thank you for being here today.  My name is Joyce Masamitsu, and I represent Verizon Wireless.  Again, not to repeat what’s been stated, that we’re very engaged in both state and federal operations right now and proceedings that are looking at emergency communications to our customers and to kind of put this into context.  I mean, at Verizon Wireless, we take public safety very seriously; we recognize that as a major carrier, we play a very critical role in supporting local and state/federal initiatives for public safety, such as enhanced 9-1-1 services that locate a caller in distress, AMBER Alerts that warn the public of a child’s abduction.

Verizon Wireless, like most of the other major carriers out there, we all have crisis communication plans in place to deal with all kinds of emergency types, including, you know, aside from the earthquake, flood, and fire, there’s also hazardous materials spills and hurricanes and terrorists and then tornadoes and tsunamis and things of that nature.

We additionally have established business continuity and disaster recover programs that, with the primary goal of those programs to minimize impact to service disruption of our customers, our employees, and to maintain the integrity of our infrastructure and the operations of our business, and it’s this sort of dedication to the development of comprehensive emergency relief planning and preparedness that has brought such huge success with the wireless industry in our ability to manage emergency response processes in an efficient and effective manner as we have in disasters, such as Katrina, or, in the more recent earthquakes, in Hawaii, things of that nature.  So while we recognize that today we don’t necessarily have the capability to simultaneously broadcast out an emergency text alert to, in large volume, to a predefined geographic area, we are very committed to working with the state and federal authorities to determine what is feasible, what would be the protocols and technical requirements necessary to support those types of emergency alerts to our customers.  And it does appear that there could be some, you know, technical obstacles that we’re all going to have to overcome.  Every carrier has a different network and different types of requirements that will need to be met, but we are engaged in the processes right now.  As mentioned earlier, the Public Utilities Commission is reviewing technical workshops that will be conducted in June.  We’ll be participating in those.  And also, we embrace AB 2231 regarding the establishment of an emergency response working group to kind of bring folks together to see what’s possible, and also we’re very engaged with the advisory committee that is supporting the WARN Act and those initiatives at the federal level.

MS. RABE:  One thing that we have talked about here today, I think subtlely, is that there are some issues with sending mass text notifications into concentrated geographic zones.  One of the reasons why…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What are the companies that can do that?  I guess when the technology war today then, so what companies—everyone is banded together and say we all can’t do it?


MS. RABE:  I think that quite honestly the industry and the wireless space is building itself up to be able to handle that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do we do AMBER Alert today?


MS. RABE:  Voice messages are much easier for us to deliver in concentrated geographic zones.  Connect-ED originally was developed in early 2001.  We focused on sending messages out for K-12 which is, you know, they’re very, very small, very concentrated populations who take up a lot of the capacity in that space.  Since 2001, we’ve been working with telcos at the local level to build their capacity, to be able to handle those calls.  They are the most difficult type of call to deliver.  I suspect that the same thing is happening here, and we are working with the wireless carriers to get them in that place as well.  But I offer to the committee that voice communications are further along at this point in time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are they the most effective way to hear an authority figure…


MS. RABE:  I think that there are benefits to it in hearing a credible spokesperson’s voice.  I think that you need to have multiple paths—email and text messaging as well—and you do need, as one of the—I can’t remember which person—Contra Costa discussed earlier when one alert goes out, especially if it’s a text message, you can’t necessarily know for sure who that’s coming from.  People, especially college students, are going to be skeptical.  You need multiple ways to reach them.  And when you do have those messages coming in different paths and you do hear from your chancellor in his or her own voice, you probably are going to be more likely to pay attention.


Additionally, SMS messages have limits in terms of the number of characters that they can accept.  If it’s in Latin characters, it’s 160.  But I think if it’s, like, Chinese characters, you’re talking 70.  So you would need to deliver a message in 70 characters.  You can split those messages up and send multiple messages, but it’s just not as eloquent a solution at this point in time, although what the Lt. Governor was speaking to earlier is very promising, and it’s another link in the chain and we look forward to being able to add that into the service as well.


MR. DENNIS TYLER:  Mr. Chairman and Members, thank you for the invite.  I’m Dennis Tyler with DialPro Northwest in Seattle, Washington. I’ll actually bring a little bit different perspective because we’re a company that provides unified communication solutions generally to what I would call point solutions.  So you’re looking really at the big picture, and I think that there’s been a lot of discussion around solving the big picture, and albeit there is a lot of technology that allows us to solve small problems in a big way.  And with interoperability discussions that have been going on, all of the technology today in telecommunications and computing is all standards based.  And so all these manufacturers are starting to use the development platforms to build on open standards so that we can interoperate.  One of the things I wanted to make comment on was, oftentimes in technology, we get asked by customers, agencies, and such to solve operational and personnel problems with technology.  And I think it’s been elaborated a number of times that, you know, you need policy to drive technology.  We do get thrown into that mix quite often.  There’s no lack of technology.  You know, we sell a number of solutions to different types of agencies, hospitals.  The thing that I found that is most critical is that the data be up to date.


You mentioned, Senator, that the, you know, gather the telephone number of the students when they may be registered for school.  If the student doesn’t keep that up to date, they change cell phones like they, you know, change clothes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Obviously, at the beginning of a quarter or semester, the professors can gather that information because do know it changes.


MR. TYLER:  Correct.  Where we have found great success when systems get implemented is if you find day-to-day application for the system so that it’s used and not just used in an emergency.  An example of that would be a hospital, say, using it for staffing.  They’re getting calls.  They expect calls from the system.  They know when there’s errors.  I think Natasha and I discussed earlier that you’ll send a message and they’ll get reports to say, hey, this data is bad and gets updated.  So I would leave you with, there’s no lack of technology to solve point solutions.  I think we’re far away from a global solution to this problem.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.


Before you all go—and actually we’ll do that in the next couple of minutes, and Senator Denham may have some questions—you know, at the end of the day, as you start to look at the AMBER Alert, for example, I mean, how did that come about and why are we able to do that, a notification way, that we can’t do this on…


MR. CARLSON:  Let me take a crack at that and then others can add to it.  AMBER Alert is relatively limited in scope.  On the wireless side, it’s an opt-in service.  Our customers have the opportunity to opt in, either on their carrier website or on the AMBER Alert website, and they designate five geographic, five ZIP codes, I believe it is, to receive a message.  So it’s quite limited in…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And a university student couldn’t do that, given their one geographic area that we would care about?


MS. RABE:  When it comes to opting in, I think, you know, if anything comes on Virginia Tech, I hope that it raises the awareness among students of their need to be able to keep their information up to date—and staff, by the way.  However, to be honest with our colleges across the country, the best that they’ve been able to do is get 30 percent of their students to opt in with their cell phone number for text messages.  Some of them have even bribed them with iPods and giveaways and all kinds of things.  I mean, we need to be honest about that.  Now there are…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mean, a professor who grades their papers and ask that every one of their students give their phone numbers an incentive isn’t an incentive?


MS. RABE:  It’s still not getting the job done, and I think…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I know.  But have we tried that?


MS. RABE:  Yes, yes, we have college campuses who have tried that, and they’re more successful.  They’re the ones who are getting up in the 30 percent range.  We also have people who are utilizing the system.  Santa Monica Community Colleges are a good example.  They’re using it for financial aid.  They’re requiring, you know, anybody with financial aid to give them up-to-date information, and then they call them when, you know, if they’re missing enough credits in order to be able to get their financial aid.  Same thing with the Bursar’s office.  In the past, their databases have been incredibly decentralized, and they haven’t…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about a password type of issue where you now log onto most of your coursework on a college system—you put in your student ID number—but how about a second one where you also put in your cell phone number?


MS. RABE:  If they would make that a requirement, absolutely.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That would allow for direct input by the students themselves as they log in.  It would be a second requirement.  It could be any number, I guess.  But at the end of the day, it’s allowing for the university to collect those numbers as they are inputting.  I mean, obviously, the key thing is your student ID, but the secondary source is your—we all do that when we go online.

MS. RABE:  Sure.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The newspapers check, and they say, your date of your birth, the year you year you were born, and then you have to do that to read the article.  So why wouldn’t we do that with our students since we have a mode of communication that requires them to go online?


MS. RABE:  It is something that we’ve requested of our clients.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Have we done what I just said at all?


MS. RABE:  We’ve requested it.  They have not implemented it, no.  They have opt-in programs and they have various websites that you can go to opt yourself in, but they’re not necessarily making it a requirement in order for them to be able to sign up for their classes, for instance.  And then, of course, after you collect that data, you need to send a test/text ?? of your emergency communication plan to make sure the data is up to date.  And if not, they can get a report back that shows them which students did not have up-to-date information.  They can follow up with them accordingly through other vehicles.


SENATOR DENHAM:  And it may not even be up-to-date information.  We’re assuming that 100 percent of all students have cell phones.


MS. RABE:  Right.  Well, it can be landlines; it can be anything.  You’re right.  I mean, you’re talking about text messages, which is why we don’t, you know, our system has multiple paths.  We do voice and text and email and voice to email because that’s—hopefully, you get them somewhere.  And I’ll give you an example of a very large database.  We have a K-12 school district that has over 250,000 contacts in their database and multiple phone numbers and multiple email addresses and cell phone numbers for those as well.  And when they first launch the system, 20 percent of their phone numbers were bad, and then they got it down to 13 percent after their first call.  And then they kind of stay around 8 percent because you have a transient society.  You have people whose cell phones go bad or whose landlines—they move, whatever the case may be—and it’s a constant process, as it should be.  You have a liability.  You have a responsibility to communicate with people, and it’s your job to make sure that you’re following up to make that their contact information is up to date.  And I do think that it is important for us to help to participate in the policy because data is the most important issue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And data what you the carriers have.  I mean, ultimately, when you decide to turn someone’s phone off because they’re not paying they’re not paying their bill or you want to remind them that their bill is due, it’s very easy to contact them, right?


MS. RABE:  I am not a carrier, but they don’t necessarily associate a particular phone number with a student.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, no.  I understand.  We’re figuring that part out.  But I’m saying that the overload issue—let me ask—Bill mentioned the issue of—I don’t have it here now—but in essence, the loading the system to capacity.  How far are we off from having much more capacity than we do today in terms of those types of mass text mail messages?


MR. DIVINE:  Maybe the way I would answer that is that the system we have in place today is not designed for that large burst in a narrow, geographic area.  But the process that we’re going through, through the WARN legislation, with the FCC, is specifically attempting to design and engineer an emergency system that will overcome that particular problem, and that’s the work that’s being done across the board by industry as well as by…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it a technology issue with GSM, or was it CDMA or something of that sort, or is this just across the board?  Is there a better technology at this point in time that’s a bottleneck?


MR. CARLSON:  I don’t know that that’s...


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So either system…


MR. CARLSON:  I think it’s just the capacity of the system.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So it’s just the capacity of the system.  Okay.


SENATOR DENHAM:  What is the current capacity?  Well, let’s just use the case of UC Davis, 50,000 students, nine square miles.  If we wanted to send out a message in that area, what could the current system hold, ballpark?


MR. CARLSON:  I mean, that each carrier—again, there are four different national carriers plus probably a bunch of smaller carriers that do provide service, so I think each one will be a little bit different.  You do raise an issue about Davis, though, in terms of, you know, the person from Davis, the police person from Davis, who talked about coverage issues from Davis, and that’s an issue basically on, for wireless communications in general, because coverage is a significant problem.  And places like Davis, it’s more of a problem than some other places.  In some of the university communities, it’s much harder to site facilities than it is at other places.  So that’s another kind of sub, you know, subtext to this that we probably need to think about.  We kind of rely on wireless as a significant part of this infrastructure.  We also have to think about the infrastructure that allows it to cooperate.

MS. MASAMITSU:  Actually, even if capacity wasn’t the issue too, the current protocol that carriers use to deploy text messaging was, as mentioned earlier, you know, designed for other types of interface, marketing, more casual—nothing of this magnitude.  So it wouldn’t just be capacity.  It would be that it would take forever.  You know, it wouldn’t be timely.  So if it would take us 50,000—if we had to deploy 50,000 messages to a small, concentrated area as opposed to across the entire state, maybe across the entire state, it takes us two to five minutes because there’s no problem with congestion, there’s no problem with system overload, and we’re able to go through those 50,000 numbers in a short period of time.


However, if you’re trying to send 50,000 messages to a really concentrated area, then you’re going to compromise the integrity of the network in just that localized area, and that’s what we don’t want to happen.  We don’t want for there not to be any communications available at the time of greatest need.  So that’s why, you know, taking a look at what the federal government is doing and scoping out what is a good criteria that we can get all carriers on board, work out a process that won’t put capacity limits in place, and allow us to get those messages out to consumers and users in a timely manner and that’s sustainable.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What if government required that you have a certain capacity benchmark?  That’s not going to solve it?


MS. MASAMITSU:  Well, no, because the protocol that we use to send our communications is still cued up.

MS. RABE:  It wasn’t designed that way.

MS. MASAMITSU:  It was never designed that way.  So I think the great advantage of what’s going on right now with the WARN Act is that, at a federal level, again, we’re national carriers—you know, we have national resources.  We need continuity against all the states so that not just California customers have access to this, that we have it across the country for all our customers.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But when you’re telling the California legislators to wait for the federal government, it’s very hard…

MS. MASAMITSU:  I appreciate that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s very hard for us to sit here and swallow that.

MS. MASAMITSU:  And that’s why we’re engaged at the PUC and the Office of Emergency Services and Homeland Security, and we’re working with all those state entities.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.


MS. RABE:  I can tell you, though, with voice calls, we regularly send 50,000 calls in very small geographic centers in minutes.  It’s not—we’ve been doing it for a long time and it did take a lot of expertise to understand how to ______ at the same capacity.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I get it.  But if you’re at a hearing like this, how often, since you’ve been sitting here, have you checked your voice message?


MS. RABE:  I actually have been checking my voicemail and emails regularly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Through voice message, if you’re sitting right here?


MS. RABE:  I plug them through to my email, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And it says you have a voicemail, or it tells you what your voicemail says?


MS. RABE:  I have my assistant doing that for me now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, what if we don’t have assistants?  (Laughter)


MS. RABE:  Well, you know, it depends on what my caller ID says.  If it says UCSD emergency, I’m probably going to leave the room and listen to it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good.  Okay.  I understand.


SENATOR DENHAM:  But in some emergencies, you can’t leave the room.  If somebody’s got a gun in the room and…

MS. RABE:  Let me tell you this, if it was my child’s elementary school that popped up, if I was sitting in here, I would listen to it because I want to know what’s—_____ is critical to me.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me understand technology here.  So it’s your child elementary school and you get a voicemail from that child’s elementary school.  How does that notify you via text that it came from your child’s elementary school?


MS. RABE:  There’s…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How does it transform from a voicemail…


MS. RABE:  In our system, when a user goes in, they write a script of what they want to say.  They can record it without having a script, if they don’t want to.  But if they go through the process of writing a script out…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who’s they?


MS. RABE:  The principal, for instance, or a chancellor or an emergency operations—chief of police.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Wouldn’t it just be as easy to text you then, since you’re going to get the same…


MS. RABE:  That’s exactly what you do.  You checked a box and then it pushes the text message and the voice message out to you at the same time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But doesn’t that bring us back to the issues of capacity?


MS. RABE:  Well, it’s why we have multiple platforms—voice and text and email—because you want to get it out to as many places as possible.  I might have seen the email come through on my Blackberry and then I saw that the voicemail came through as well or a text message.  And any one of those platforms could…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  I like the dual nature of checking the verification issues; it’s very important.  But I was just wondering from a capacity point of view of overloading the system, does that not accomplish the same or bring us to the same bottleneck?

MS. RABE:  Yes.  I just think that voice calls are a little further along than text are at this time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ve gotcha.


MR. TYLER:  I think I would add that the nature of these systems allow you to, the users to, choose up to five different methods—let’s say, home phone, cell phone, pager, PDA, and such—and so…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Personal assistant.


MR. TYLER:  Or a personal assistant (laughter), exactly, so that each of us, you know, may not all have the same cell carrier and all of that.  So albeit that the network is an issue, if it’s a known issue, the system that we documented, ten messages a second, 36,000 in an hour capacity, so I think the network is an issue.  But again, every user isn’t going to get an SMS text page.  Half of them on the system who are subscribed will probably get a voice call because that’s the method of communication that they use.  So again, you can’t so much drive the—because I think, Senator, you made the point that, during the classroom, their cell phone’s turned off.  And if that’s their preferred method of communication, they’re not going to get the message anyway.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  By using the principle of trying to get to the most folks, I think the question is, How do we interrelate our policies even in class to reflect the nature of the emergency, if we ever get to that point?  So that’s the real question.


MR. TYLER:  And I think that we all agree that the college student, their method of communication is that SMS-type ____.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I get it.  But, I mean, if you’re sitting in a classroom with all of your cell phones turned off but your professor obviously has a cell phone or a system in their classroom that says, right now, everybody stop what you’re doing and we’re evacuating, it seems to me, rather than being an isolated room, as you were in Virginia Tech, with no mode of communication, other than a cell phone, which leads to jam problems as well, I mean, it’s just a question of we’re trying to figure out the right system.  I don’t know it.  But I mean, obviously, people will debate that as we go through.


MR. DIVINE:  I’m just going to make one other observation, Senator.  One of the other interesting challenges we have, particularly as we deal with education—and we’ve talked a lot about colleges today, but I suspect we share a concern about K-12 as well.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure, sure.


MR. DIVINE:  One thing we will find, is in many K-12 classrooms throughout the State of California, there is no telecommunication service available at all.  Teachers either don’t have access to a phone or they have to use their personal cell phone if they want to communicate outside the classrooms.  That adds another—so there’s multiple layers to the issues in terms of access, not just to the issues of technology but access to the actual instruments and mechanisms for communicating beyond the classroom.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anything else?  All right.


Senator Denham, would you like to…


SENATOR DENHAM:  I’d like to follow up.  Lt. Governor, in his testimony, had described using one cell site or being able to alert people in one geographic area via cell site.  Can we do that today?


MR. CARLSON:  Well, there’s not just one cell site.  Each carrier has its own network.  And occasionally, there’ll be co-located facilities.  But most often, that they’re individually freestanding.  So one cell site might hit the Verizon customers, but that same cell site wouldn’t hit the Sprint, the people who are on Sprint and AT&T and down the road.  So it would be multiple cell sites that would have to be engaged, if one were to do that.  So it’s not quite as simple as that because there’s multiple state ?? carriers as well.

SENATOR DENHAM:  If we wanted to alert everybody in the State Capitol, send them a text message right now, could we do that?


MR. CARLSON:  We would have to contact each of the carriers that, unless it was an essential system in place, like these folks provide, that would enable an internal infrastructure to do that; each carrier would have to be notified to access all of its facilities within the building or close to the building to be able to do that, and that’s a more complicated process.


MS. RABE:  So what happens is, when they figure out the technology of how all the carriers are going to push, then they go to people like us and we tie in with them so that, you know, just like I said, you check a box, you know, we check another box that says, yeah, send this out through the Cell Broadcasting System.  You need an intermediary to kind of be the one who’s making it easy on the front end, for the user.


SENATOR DENHAM:  So that there’s no complications between the different carriers because of privacy issues?  That’s why you’d have to have somebody that can coordinate all…


MR. CARLSON:  Well, privacy issue is an issue.  I mean, as Senator Florez points out, you know, some people might object giving out their cell phone number and personal information under those circumstances as well.  That’s just one of those issues.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  _________.


SENATOR DENHAM:  It was my understanding when the Lt. Governor was testifying that we could actually—we actually have the technology in place to where we could send out a message to all cell phones, regardless of what the number is.  If you’ve got a cell phone, you’re getting a message or that that technology was available sometime soon.


MS. RABE:  There are companies who have done demonstrations of that with one carrier.  What we’re talking about here is all of the carriers figuring out how they’re going to make that available to companies so that it can be done seamlessly.  So it’s not a technological issue so to speak as much as it is a tech-plus policy issue. So, yes, it has been demonstrated but it is not, it is not currently capable of cross-carrier.


SENATOR DENHAM:  Assuming for a second that it was capable across all of the different carriers.  If, as a user, why would I have to check a box to get that information?  Why wouldn’t, in an emergency situation, just like I don’t check a box if I want to get into an emergency over my TV or my radio.  If it’s an emergency, I get the message.


MS. RABE:  I’m sorry, as an end user, as a recipient, you wouldn’t have to check a box.  And there are privacy issues that they’re trying to get out.  Maybe if they’re not passing the phone number, all you’re doing is sending a message out to the carrier and the carrier is pinging all of the relevant cell towers, then you don’t have the same kind of privacy issues.  But as the person who is recording the message or who’s texting the message, the police chief, for instance, they need an interface to go into in order to be able to do that so that they’re not calling somebody at Verizon and saying, okay, I’m getting ready to call AT&T, but I need you to send this text message and then getting on the phone with somebody else.  That’s what I meant.  A recipient is different than an end user—or the initiator.

SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Number one, thanks for sticking around.  Sorry the hearing went a bit long, but I do appreciate in working with you and going forward.


We’ll go ahead and end the hearing.  I want to thank Senator Vincent and Senator Denham, particularly Senator Denham, with great questions, and I want to thank everyone that stuck around for this, and we’ll adjourn the Governmental Organization Committee.
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